
Sierra County Commission 
Sierra County Commission Chambers 

1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
Tuesday, August 19th, 2025 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO MEETING VIA: 
(http://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068317226897) 

(https://www.youtube.com/@SierraCountyCommission) 
 

Call to Order: 9:30 AM Public Hearing Declaring a public safety disaster in Sierra County due to the  
Threat of Injury and Damage from Mexican Wolves 

 
             10:00 AM Regular Meeting 
 

 
Roll Call: Travis Day-Chairman   Amy Whitehead-Clerk 
  James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair   Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
  Hank Hopkins-Commissioner  Amber Vaughn-County Manager 
 
Pledge Of Allegiance 
 
New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures.  
 
 Introduction of Guests  
 

I. Approval of Agenda: 
II. Approval of Minutes: 

A. Regular Meeting-July 15th, 2025 
B. Special Meeting-July 31st, 2025 
C. Special Meeting-August 13th, 2025 

III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes 
IV. Consent Agenda: 

A. Resolution No. 2025-66 Accounts Payable  
B. Resolution No. 2025-67 Indigent Claims 
C. Indigent Burial B2025-016 

V. Presentations/reports: 
A. Years of Service Awards  
B. Department Reports    

VI. Board of Finance: 
A. July Reconciliation 

VII. Old Business:  
A. Sierra Vista Hospital Joint Powers Agreement Amendment  

VIII. New Business: 
A. Approval of Donation 2003 Vermeer BC 1800A Woodchipper from Sierra Soil & Water 

Conservation District to the County of Sierra  

http://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068317226897


IX. Contracts-Agreements-Procurements: 
A. Approval of Unauthorized Purchase:  Flood Commissioner  
B. Preservation Agreement Between the State of New Mexico Historic Preservation 

Division and Sierra County  
C. JPA Between the Department of Cultural Affairs Historic Preservation Division and 

Sierra County for improvements to Hillsboro Community Center 
D. MOU Between Sierra County and Truth or Consequences School District for Student 

Admission to School Sporting Events 
E. MOU Between Sierra County and Sierra County Arroyo Flood District to Provide 

Temporary Seed Funding for Operations 
F. RISE Grant Agreement Between Sierra County and The Olive Tree  
G. BHIZ Grant Agreement Between Sierra County and The Olive Tree  
H. New Mexico Capital Outlay Grant Agreement 25-J3162 
I. New Mexico Capital Outlay Grant Agreement 25-J3163 
J. New Mexico Capital Outlay Grant Agreement 25-J3165 
K. Cost of Care Agreement Between the County of Bernalillo and the County of Sierra  

X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 
A. Resolution No. 2025-68 Declaring a Public Safety Disaster in Sierra County due to the 

Threat of Injury and Damage from Mexican Wolves 
B. Resolution No. 2025-69 FY26 Budget and Transfer Amendment  
C. Resolution No. 2025-70 FY 26 Budget Amendment-Arroyo Flood District  

XI. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H) : 
Pending and Threatened Litigation : 

XII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session: 
XIII. Adjourn 
 
 
 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, September 16th, 2025, at 10:00 AM. 
Items for the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 
5:00pm on the Monday the week before the meeting. 
 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting, please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as 
possible.  Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible 
formats. Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format 
is needed. 

 

  



 

 
SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                          REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
July 15, 2025 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:   10:00 am Regular Meeting  
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, July 15, 2025, at the Sierra County Commission 
Chambers, 1712 N Date St, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair  
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board: Amy Whitehead 
          
 County Attorney: David Pato  
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 
 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
   
Monica Zepeda, Josh Baker, Steve Mull-Sentinel, Patrick Flores, Keith 
Whitney, Billy Neeley, Tim Kuzdrowski, Ryan Williams, Chealsey Garcia, 
Rebecca Bartoo (Representative Gail Armstrong), Patrice Love, Shane 
Atwell, Ernie Armijo, Brett Mellot (US Forest Service), NMSP 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-June 24, 2025 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
July 15, 2025 
Page 2   

 

 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 
               
         

 
 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A.  Resolution No. 2025-54 Accounts Payable 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-55 Indigent Claims 
C. Indigent Burial B2025-014 
D. Indigent Burial B2025-015 
E. Claim of Exemption 25-002 Smith 
F. Lodgers Tax Board Fund Recommendation for the Sierra County Arts 
Council Pickamania 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS: 
 
A.  Years of Service award 
B.  Department Reports 

 
 

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE: 
 

A.  June Reconciliation 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the June Reconciliation 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
 

VII. OLD BUSINESS: 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 
   
 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
July 15, 2025 
Page 3   

 

     
 

A. Approval of donation, Rubber tire roller from Sierra County Road      
Department to the Village of Magdalena. 

 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Donation as presented.  

Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes 
 

 
IX.  CONTRACT-AGREEMENTS-PROCUREMENTS 
 

 
X. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 

 
A.  Resolution No. 2025-56 Authorizing the County Manager to facilitate 
participation in Opioid litigation settlements, and ratifying prior actions. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-56 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Resolution No. 2025-57 End of the Year budget transfers.  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-57 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  Resolution 2025-58 Budget/Line- item amendment Resolution to adjust 
various funds. 
 
Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution 2025-58 as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D. Resolution No. 2025-59 Fourth quarter financial report ending June 30, 
2025  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-59 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
E. Resolution No. 2025-60 A resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2026 Budget 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
July 15, 2025 
Page 4   

 

Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-60 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 
 
   Commission Vice Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commissioner 
Hopkins SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Yes 

 
 

            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
 

A. EBID vs. BOCC 
       
            
XI. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 
The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday August 19, 2025 at 10:00 A.M. at the Sierra 
County Commission Chambers 1712 N. Date Street Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting. Commission Vice 
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting at 11:27am. 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
July 15, 2025 
Page 5   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 15th day of July 2025. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
July 15, 2025 
Page 6   

 

 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 
 
 

   
 



 

      
          SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
        July 31, 2025 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:  9:00 am 
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Special Session at 
09:00 A.M. on Thursday July 31, 2025, at the Sierra County Commission 
Chambers, 1712 N Date, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board:  Amy Whitehead                                  
 
 County Attorney: Dave Pato- Absent 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

 Ryan Williams, Billy Neeley, Jessica Pena, Monica Zepeda, Sentinel  
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
III.  PUBLIC COMMENT-LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 

 
IV.  NEW BUSINESS 
 

         V. OLD BUSINESS 
 
IX.  Contracts-Agreements-Procurements 



Sierra County Commission Special Meeting 
July 31, 2025 
Page 2   

 

 
A. Custom truck capital/Peterbilt- Sourcewell Lease Agreement 

 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Lease as presented.   
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations 
 
A. Resolution No. 2025-61 FY 26 Budget Adjustment 

 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-61 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 

  
B. Resolution No. 2025-62 Amended 4th Quarter Report Ending June 30, 

2025 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-62 
as presented.   Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C. Resolution No. 2025-63 FY 25 End of the Year Budget Adjustment  

 
 

Commissioner Hank Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-63 as 
presented.  Commission Vice Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
D. Resolution No. 2025-64 Adopting the Fiscal Year Final Budget  

 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 2025-663 
as presented.   Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 
 

 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting.  Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT: 9:06 AM 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting. 
 



Sierra County Commission Special Meeting 
July 31, 2025 
Page 3   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Dated this 31st day of July, 2025. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead, County Clerk 

   
 













   

 
 

  

 

  

  

 

    
     

 

 

 
        

            

          
            

          

         
            

           

   

   

  

  

 

     

 

 

 
           

  





 

 
 

  
 

   

  

 

 

 

   

 

   

   

  
 

  
 

  
    

   
 

 

 
  

 

 
  

   

    



  
 

    

 

 

 

    
  
 

  

   

 
 

 
 

  

  
 

   
   

 

   



 

 
 
 

 



 



 

   

  

  
   

   

  

 
  

  

   

 

  

 
    

  

    



 





 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 



     

    

   

   

   

 

  

  

  
   

 

   

   
   

  

 



 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 

  

   
  

  

     

 

   
  

 

 

   
 

   
    

    
    

     
  

     
   

     

 



  

   
   

     

 

  
     

  

 

  

   

 
 

  
  

   

  

   

      
 

  
  

 

 





 
 

 



   
  

    
  

   
  

  

  

   
  

   
  

   

  

   

   
  

 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



    

  
      

    
  

   
    

 

 
  

  

  
  

   
  

  
  
   

   
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
 

  

 
     

    

  

  

   

 

  
 

 

 
     

 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



  

   
  

 
  

  
  
    

 
 
 

  
   

   
   

    
   

 
   
 
    

   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

    
    

   
   

   
   

 
 

 
 

   
   

 
    

  
    

 
 

 
 

   
  

     
  

   

  

 





 



 



 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



  

 
  

    

  

  
     

   

 

  
    

  
   

  

 
  

 

  

   
    

 
 

    
     

 

 
 

  



 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 

    
  

    

  
   

  
   

   

  

  

  

   
  

 
   

  
 

  

  
  

 

 

   

    

  

  

  

   
  

  

   

   



    

 

  
    

     

       

  
 

  

 

 

  

   

 
  

   
  

   
  

  

    
  

  

  

   

 

  

   
     

  
  

   
  

   

  

   

    



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 



   
  

   

  
  

 
     

 

  
  

     

 

  
  

  
  

 

      

 

 

   
  

 



  

 
 

     
  

    
   

   

 
   

   
  

 
 

 
 

    
   

   

   

  
  

  

  

   
 

   
  

  
  

     

 

   
  

 
     

   

 



 
  

  

  
   

  

   

    
  

    
    

 
  

  
   

  

  

  
  

  
   

  
  

  
 

 
 

    
 

   

  
 

   
   

   
  

    
 

  
  

  
   

  
  

    
   

   
   

  
  

   



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 
  

  
  

  
  

 
 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



      
 

    

 
     

    
 

  
  

 

 
     

 

   
   

      

   

  

  

  
  

    
 

   
     

    
    

  
  

 

    
      

   
     

  



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 



 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  



 

  

   

   
  
  

 
  

 

  
   

  
  

  

   

  

   

 

   

   
  
  

   

   
  

    



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



  
 



 

 
 

 





 
 

 
 

 



 



 



    

 
 

  

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

     
      

         
          

   
   

  

 

            
                

             
    

            
         

        

             

   
  

  

  

 
  

    

  



  

      

  

   

  

 
    

   
  

  



 

 

  
  

    
   

  

   
     
   

   
 

 

 

  

 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    



    

 

  
   



 
      

 

 

  

 
  

  

 
    

    

      

  

                
              

             
       

              
       

 

 

    
     

  

  

   
      

             



   

    

 

    
  

     
    

      
    

  

            
              

           
             

              
             

             
           

             
 

             
            

  

   
  

    

 

 





   
   

   

 

  

 

 

   

  

   

   

  

 

  

     

   

        

              

                   

   

           

                   
               

               

 

   

   
         

  

  

 



 
       

    
    

 

  

   

  

 

           

  
   

      
         

          

      
      
        
         

         
      

        
     

   
      

     
      

        
       
          

          
      

         
         

         
          

       
          

      

          
        

         
          
             

       

           
  

          

        
    

          
        

           
         

           
        

          
   

        
          

        

              
     

      
          

          
           

        
         
       

          
        

          
        

     

         

           

   

            



     

         

     

 



































 

      

       

      

        

      

 

     



            

           
         

        

              
            

               

         

  

               

             

              

            

             

      

              

             

            

 

               

           

              

              

             

             

 

           

               



           

            

             

          
             

             

           
           

        

              

           

           

 

                 

              

              

              

          

            

           

              

               

         

 

               
           

            

       

            

          

   



      

          

        

            

      
            

        

            

           

           

      

             

             

             

       
             

  

           

      

            

 

      

       

             

         

      

               

           

           

     

        



        

         

      

     

      

        

    

       

         

      

      

     



    

 

 

 



        

 

 

                
            

     

  

     

   

 
 
 
  
      
    

  

          
             

      

  

           

            
  

  

               

             

 

            
             

      

  

              

            



  

              

        

         

         
 

 
              

              

             
 



                

      

               
 

            
   
    
             

 

          
        

            
               

    
               

             
         

         
 

              



  

  

 

   

  
 

 

 



  

 

    

 



     

 

    

           

    

  

  

  



  

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

 

    

 

  

                   

   

     



    
    

   

      

      



  

     

 

    

   

    

  

     

 

  

 

    

 

 

    

 

  

 



 
 
 

 
     

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

     

 

   
    

   
      

    

   



 
  

 

 

 

  
     

 

  

     

 

  

  

   
  

   

 

 

 

 

        



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

           
        

     

               
            
       

        



   

   

 

 



     
         

              
                

             
   

            
        

             
         

    

   

   

          
      

                
              

            

    

      

 

         

        

     

        

   

              
      

 

          

              
   

           
  

 

             
          
            

 

   



              
              
         

           
          

           
           

         

            
         

    

             
           

           
     

  

 
  

     

  

  

  

  

   

    

           

   

            
              

             
                

      

               
              

             
               
           

              
              

    

             
            
        

          
            

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

  

     



 
  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 



      
  

      

      

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

  

 



 

 

  

  

      

  

 

    

 

 

  

   

  

       



      

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

 



      

  

 

         

 

 

 

   

   

 



      

   

   

  

 

 

  

    

 

 



  

 

    

 

 

  

  

      

  

 

 



 

    

 

 

  

   



 

     

    

 

 

  

 

      



 

 

  

  

 

   

  

 



      

 

 

  

 

       

 

 









 

 



 
 



 



PRESERVATION AGREEMENT 
 
This preservation agreement is made this _____ day of 2025 between  Sierra County   as GRANTOR of a 
preservation agreement (hereafter referred to as the “Grantor”), and the State of New Mexico Historic 
Preservation Division of the Office of Cultural Affairs/Covenant Holder, as GRANTEE of the preservation 
agreement (hereafter referred to ask The “Grantee”). This preservation agreement is entered under Section 
4.10.10 NMAC and NMSA 1978, Section 18-6-7 (A), 18-6-8, and 18-10-6 (C) (as applied to this agreement’s 
application to any potential future private ownership) and for the purpose of rehabilitating the Hillsboro High 
School/Hillsboro Community Center a site that is important culturally, historically, architecturally and 
archeologically.  
 

1. The Subject Property. This agreement creates a preservation agreement in real estate legally described 
as 216 Elenore Street, Hillsboro, Sierra County, New Mexico.  (Hereafter referred to as the “Property”).   

 
2. Grant of Preservation Agreement. In consideration of the sum of   $189,300.00   received in grant-in-

aid financial assistance from State of New Mexico, the Grantor hereby grants to the Grantee a 
preservation agreement in the Property for the purpose of assuring preservation of the Property.  

 
3. Agreement Required for State Grant. This preservation agreement is granted as a condition of the 

eligibility of the Grantor for the financial assistance from the State of New Mexico.  . 
 
4. Conditions of Preservation Agreement:  

a. Duration. This preservation agreement is granted for a period of ten (10) years  commencing on 
the date when it is filed with the County Clerk.  

 
b. Documentation of condition of the Property at time of grant of this agreement. In order to make 

more certain the full extent of Grantor’s obligations and the restrictions on the Property, and in 
order to document the nature and condition of the Property, including significant interior 
elements in spatial context, a list of character-defining materials, features and spaces, including 
archeological features (if known) are incorporated as “Exhibit A” at the end of this agreement. 
The Grantor has provided to the Grantee site plans and photographs of the site/building.  The 
Grantor agrees that the nature and condition of the Property on the date of execution of this 
agreement is accurately documented by the archaeological drawings and photographic record, 
which shall be maintained for the life of this agreement in the Grantee’s preservation 
agreement file for the Property.  

 
c. Restrictions on activities that would affect historically significant components of the Property. 

The Grantor agrees that no construction, alteration, or remodeling or any other activity shall be 
undertaken or permitted to be undertaken on the Property which would affect historically 
significant, interior spaces, and character-defining features identified in “Exhibit A”, exterior 
construction materials, architectural details, form, fenestration, height of the Property, or 
adversely affect its structural soundness without prior written permission of the Grantee 
affirming that such reconstruction, repair, repainting, refinishing, rehabilitation, preservation, or 
restoration will meet The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic 
Properties and the Standards for Archeology and Historic Preservation (hereinafter referred to 
as the “Standards”).  

 
d. Duty to maintain the Property. The Grantor agrees at all times to maintain the Property in a 

good and sound state of repair and to maintain the Property, including the other structures or 
features of the site, according to the Standards so as to prevent deterioration and preserve the 



PRESERVATION AGREEMENT, HILLSBORO HIGH SCHOOL, Page 2 

architectural and historical integrity of the Property in ways that protect and enhance those 
qualities that make the property eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  

 
e. Restrictions on activities that would affect archeological resources. The Grantor agrees that no 

ground disturbing activity shall be undertaken or permitted to be undertaken on the Subject 
Property that would affect historically significant archeological resources identified in “Exhibit 
A” without prior written permission of the Grantee affirming that such work will meet 
Standards. 

 
f. Maintenance of recovered materials. The Grantor agrees to ensure that any data and material 

recovered will be placed in a repository that will care for the data in the manner prescribed in 
the Standards or will comply with the requirements of the Native American Graves Protection 
and Repatriation Act, 36 CFR 79, and 43 CFR 10.  

 
g. Right to inspect. The Grantor agrees that the Grantee, its employees, agents and designees shall 

have the right to inspect the Property at all reasonable times, with twenty-four hours (24) 
written notice, in order to ascertain whether the conditions of this agreement are being 
observed.  

 
I. Anti-discrimination. The Grantor agrees to comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 

U.S.C. 2000 (d), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. 12204), and with Section 504 of 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794). These laws prohibit discrimination on the basis of 
race, religion, national origin, or disability. In implementing public access, reasonable 
accommodation to qualified disabled persons shall be made in consultation with the State 
Historic Preservation Office.  

 
j. Agreement shall run with the land; conditions on conveyance. This preservation agreement shall 

run with the land and be binding on the Grantor, its successors and assigns. The Grantor agrees 
to insert an appropriate reference to this agreement in any deed or other legal instrument by 
which it divests itself of either the fee simple title or other lesser estate in the Property or any 
part thereof.  

 
k. Casualty Damage or Destruction. In the event that the Property or any part of it shall be 

damaged or destroyed by fire, flood, windstorm, earth movement, or other casualty, the 
Grantor shall notify the Grantee in writing within fourteen (14) days of the damage or 
destruction, such notification including what, if any, emergency work has already been 
completed. No repairs or reconstruction of any type, other than temporary emergency work to 
prevent further damage to the Property and to protect public safety shall be undertaken by the 
Grantor without the Grantee’s prior written approval indicating that the proposed work will 
meet the Standards. The Grantee shall give its written approval, if any, of any proposed work 
within sixty (60) days of receiving the request from the Grantor. If after reviewing the condition 
of the property, the Grantee determines that the features, materials, appearance, 
workmanship, and environment which made the property eligible for listing in the National 
Register of Historic Places has been lost or so damaged that its continued National Register 
listing is in question, the Grantee will notify the Keeper of the National Register in writing of the 
loss. The Keeper of the National Register will evaluate the findings and notify the Grantee in 
writing of any decision to remove the property from the National Register. If the property is 
removed, the Grantee will then notify the Grantor that the agreement is null and void. If the 
damage or destruction that warrants the properties removal from the National Register is 
deliberately caused by the gross negligence of the Grantor or future owner, then the Grantee 



PRESERVATION AGREEMENT, HILLSBORO HIGH SCHOOL, Page 3 

will initiate requisite legal action to recover, at a minimum, the grant funds applied to the 
Property which will then be returned to the State of New Mexico.   

 
l. Enforcement.  The Grantee shall have the right to prevent and correct violations of the terms of 

this agreement.  If the Grantee, upon inspection of the property, finds what appears to be a 
violation, it may exercise its discretions to seek injunctive relief in a court having jurisdiction.  
Except when an ongoing or imminent violation will irreversibly diminish or impair the cultural, 
historical and architectural importance of the Property, the Grantee shall give the Grantor 
written notice of the violation and allow thirty (30) days to correct the violation before taking 
any formal action, including but not limited to, legal action.  If a court, having jurisdiction, 
determines that a violation exists or has occurred, the Grantee may obtain an injunction to top 
the violation, temporarily or permanently.  A court may also issue a mandatory injunction 
requiring the Grantor to restore to the Property to a condition that would be consistent with 
preservation purposes of the grant from the State.  In any case where a court finds that a 
violation has occurred, the court may require the Grantor to reimburse the Grantee and the 
State Attorney General for all the State’s expenses incurred in stopping, preventing and 
correcting the violation, including but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees.  The failure of 
the Grantee to discover a violation or to take immediate action to correct a violation shall not 
bar it from doing so at a later time. 

 
m. Amendments.  The parties may by mutual written agreement jointly amend this agreement, 

provided the amendment shall be consistent with preservation purpose of this agreement and 
shall not reduce its term of duration.  Any such amendment shall not be effective unless it is 
executed in the same manner as this agreement, refers expressly to this agreement, and is filed 
with the Sierra County Clerk. 

 
n. Effective date: severability.  This preservation agreement shall become effective when the 

Grantor files it in the Office of the County Clerk of Sierra County, State of New Mexico, with a 
copy of the recorded instrument provided to the Grantee for its preservation agreement file.  If 
any part of this preservation agreement is held to be illegal by a court, the validity of the 
remaining parts shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be 
construed and enforced as if the preservation agreement does not contain the particular part 
held to be valid. 

  



PRESERVATION AGREEMENT, HILLSBORO HIGH SCHOOL, Page 4 

 

GRANTOR:  
By: Amber Vaughn, County Manager, Sierra County 

  
 
SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO :  On this _________ day of ________ 2025, before me the undersigned, a 
Notary Public for said State, personally appeared _____________, to me personally known, who stated the they 
are ___________________, that no seal has been procured by said corporation, and that the foregoing 
instrument was signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its City Council, and that such officer, they 
acknowledged that they executed the foregoing instrument as their voluntary act and the voluntary act of the 
corporation.  
 
 

  
 NOTARY PUBLIC 

 
 
GRANTEE:  Historic Preservation Division, Office of Cultural Affairs, State of New Mexico 
 

By:  
 Michelle Ensey., State Historic Preservation Officer / Director 

 
 
CITY OF SANTA FE, SANTA FE COUNTY, STATE OF NEW MEXICO:  On this __________ day of _________ 2025, 
before me, a Notary Public for said State, personally appeared Michelle Ensey, who stated that they are duly 
appointed and actively serving as the Director of the State Historic Preservation Office, and that they executed 
the foregoing preservation agreement as their voluntary act and as the voluntary act of the State of New Mexico 
Office of Cultural Affairs. 
 

  
 NOTARY PUBLIC 

 
  



PRESERVATION AGREEMENT, HILLSBORO HIGH SCHOOL, Page 5 

EXHIBIT “A” TO PRESERVATION AGREEMENT 
 

HILLSBORO HIGH SCHOOL 
HILLSBORO COMMUNITY CENTER 

HILLSBORO, SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 
 
 
 
 

To remain eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places, a property must be able to convey its 
significance.  The following character-defining materials, spaces, and features have been identified as those that 
help convey the significance of   Hillsboro High School/Hillsboro Community Center, Hillsboro, Sierra County, 
New Mexico, photographic documentation is attached. 
 
Exhibit A must be submitted at the time of signing the grant agreement. 
 
Grantee must: 

- Take photographs of all four sides of the building/angles of historic site 
- Take photographs of significant architectural/site features 
- Take photographs of interior of building 

 
Photographs must be attached as EXHIBIT A to this grant agreement – 2-4 photographs per page with captions.   
 
The Joint Powers Agreement will NOT be signed by the Historic Preservation Division without a signed 
preservation agreement and photographs included in Exhibit A.   
 
 

> -  - - Insert photos here - - - <  
 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 1 of 7 

Contract Number:  
Vendor Number:  
Project Number:  
Control Number:  

 
JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE  
DEPARTMENT OF CULTURAL AFFAIRS  
HISTORIC PRESERVATION DIVISION 

AND 
SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on________pursuant to the Joint 
Powers Act, Section 11-01-01 et seq., NMSA 1978, and is between the Department of 
Cultural Affairs, Historic Preservation Division, hereinafter referred to as “HPD,” and    Sierra 
County   hereinafter referred to as the “Agency.” 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, HPD is a public agency as defined in Section 11-1-2 NMSA 1978 and the 

AGENCY is a political subdivision of the State of New Mexico as defined in 11-6-3(E) NMSA 
1978; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 18, 2023, Governor Michelle Lujan Grisham signed Senate Bill 9, 

the “Land of Enchantment Legacy Fund” which established dedicated recurring funding for 
conservation and preservation efforts. The legislation was a bipartisan effort sponsored by 
Senators Peter Wirth and Steven Neville, and Representative Nathan Small in the 2023 
Legislative Session and supports state agencies requiring matching funds for federal 
conservation grants as well as historic preservation projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Cultural Affairs (hereinafter “DCA”) is one of eight 

State Departments receiving funding from the Legacy Fund; and 
 

WHEREAS, funding is administered through the Department of Cultural Affairs 
(hereinafter “DCA”), Historic Preservation Division, via the Cultural Properties Protection Act 
18-6A-1 – 18-6-6 NMSA 1978; and the Cultural Properties Restoration Fund, (hereinafter 
“CPRF”), NMAC 4.10.13; and 

 
WHEREAS, one million in funding will be distributed to the CPRF in 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, when the DCA awards a grant for restoration, interpretation, preservation, 

stabilization or protection of a cultural property, the grant shall be administered under the terms 
of a joint powers agreement (JPA) , which will specify the nature of the work to be done, payment 
schedule, reporting requirements, long-term preservation and protection measures, and other 
requirements of the grant, NMAC 4.10.13.11; and 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 2 of 7 

 
WHEREAS, the State Historic Preservation Officer and the Cultural Properties Review 

Committee (hereinafter “CPRC”) are authorized to review and select grant applications to the 
CPRF; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation and the Agency desire to enter into a Joint Powers 

agreement to exercise their common power to administer grant funds to political subdivisions 
of the State of New Mexico and state agencies/departments to complete a historic 
preservation project as outlined in this Agreement; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

 
1. Purpose. HPD and the AGENCY shall enter into a Joint Powers Agreement (hereinafter 

“Agreement”) to expend grant funds to complete a historic preservation project 
(hereinafter “Project”) per the AGENCY’S application for CPRF funding. 

 
2. Scope of Work. The Project’s Scope of Work (hereinafter “SOW”) shall include the 

following stipulations. 
 

(A) HPD Shall: 
1) Administer the Project in partnership with the AGENCY. 

 
2) Establish this Agreement and work with AGENCY to develop a Scope of Work 

outlined in this Agreement. 
 

3) Periodically review AGENCY progress on the Project, including site visits as 
deemed appropriate. 

 
4) Ensure that  AGENCY is paid for the Project before starting  

 
5) Review AGENCY’S completion of the SOW and determine if work 

meets the SOW outlined herein.  
 

6) Confirm with AGENCY that the work has been completed per the 
Agreement and per the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the 
Treatment of Historic Properties.  

 
7) Seek partial or full repayment from the AGENCY if work has not been 

completed per this Agreement. 
 
 

(B) The AGENCY shall: 
 

1. Complete an adobe wall rehabilitation project at the historic Hillsboro 
Community Center, located at 316 Elenora Street, Hillsboro, Sierra County, 
New Mexico. Hillsboro High School (now the Hillsboro Community Center) is 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 3 of 7 

listed in the State Register of Cultural Properties (SR # 1549) and in the 
National Register of Historic Places. The adobe wall rehabilitation project shall 
utilize CPRF funds to complete the following: 
 
a. Wall Inspection.  Adobe walls will be inspected and assessed for 

deterioration. 
 

b. Wall remediation.  Remove non-historic acrylic skim coat.   
 

c. Wall Repair.  Walls will be repaired with new packed mud and adobe 
blocks, as needed. 

 
d. Wall finishing.  Re-stucco.  Walls will be re-stuccoed with cementitious 

stucco compatible with historic adobe construction methods.   
 

2. Comply with historic preservation standards by:  
 

a. Ensuring all Project work is completed in compliance with the Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, specifically 
the Standards for Rehabilitation. The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings may 
be found online, here: https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-
standardsrehabilitation.htm 

 
3.   Maintain contact with HPD for the duration of the Project, through the: 

 
a. Submittal of a total of four (4) progress reports to HPD every six (6) months 

for the duration of this Agreement. The progress reports must include the 
number of photographs to readily convey work-in-progress or work 
completed for the Project. 

 
3. Unexpended Funds.  Any unexpended or unencumbered amounts in the FY2026 CPRF 

shall revert to HPD.   
 
4. Administering Agency. DCA is designated as the administering agency of this 

agreement via the Historic Preservation Division (HPD). 
 
5. Disbursements. All disbursements for permissible and approved costs incurred under 

this Agreement shall be made by HPD and shall provide for strict accountability of all 
receipts and disbursements. Disbursements will be made on a lump sum basis and an 
accurate accounting of expenditures and records will be required by the Agency. 

 
6. Funding.  The Department of Cultural Affairs shall pay a sum not to exceed one hundred 

eighty-nine thousand, three hundred dollars and no cents ($189,300.00) in accordance 
with a payment schedule provided by state regulations.  Payments to the Agency will be 
made in full payment for services, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties.  



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 4 of 7 

The amount includes gross receipts taxes.  Such amount shall come from the Department 
of Cultural Affairs XXX fund and through the Department’s CODE XXXX.   

 
7. Term. This Agreement shall not become effective until approved by the 

Department of Finance and Administration and a State of New Mexico Purchase 
Order (hereafter “PO”) issued. 

 
The term of this Agreement is from the date of the issuance of the PO 
until______________    The term for this Agreement shall not exceed two years. 

 
8. Termination of Default. If Agency fails to perform in the manner called for in this 

Agreement, DCA and/or HPD may terminate this Agreement for default. 
 
9. Assignment. The Agency shall not assign interest in this Agreement or assign any 

other provision of this Agreement without written approval of HPD. 
 

10. Subcontracts. Agency shall not assign any portion of its scope of work described under 
this Agreement or obligate itself in any manner with any third party with respect to its 
rights and responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written concurrence 
of HPD. 
 
In the event HPD, with a request by the Agency to subcontract, such subcontract 
shall conform to applicable requirements of the Procurement Code and the 
Agency shall be responsible for any and all payments to the subcontractor. 

 
Agency shall not assign any portion of the funding it receives or subcontract to private 
parties for Projects on privately owned properties. 

 
11. Records and Audits. HPD shall permit the authorized representatives of DCA, 

Department of Finance and Administration, or the State Auditor to inspect and 
audit all data and records of DCA relating to its performance under this 
Agreement until the expiration of three (3) years after final payment under this 
Agreement. 

 
The period of access and examination described above, for records which relate 
to (1) litigation of the settlement of claims arising out of the performance of this 
Agreement, or (2) costs and expenses of this Agreement as to which exception 
has been taken by the Comptroller General or any of his duly authorized 
representatives, shall continue until such appeals, litigation, claims, or exceptions 
have been eliminated. 

 
12. Appropriations. The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient 

appropriations and authorizations made by the Legislature of New Mexico 
for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and 
authorizations are not made by the New Mexico State Legislature or in the case 
of federal funds by the Congress of the United States, this Agreement shall 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 5 of 7 

terminate upon written notice by DCA to HPD. The decision as to whether 
sufficient appropriations are available shall be accepted by HPD and shall be 
final. 

 
13. Release. The Agency, upon final payment of amounts due under this 

Agreement, releases HPD, its officer and employees and the State of New Mexico 
from all liabilities, claims and obligations whatsoever arising from or under this 
Agreement. 

 
14. Confidentiality. Both parties agree to comply with the confidentiality provisions 

of Section 304 of the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, and 
Section 18-6-11.1 NMSA 1978 of the Cultural Properties Act in performing this 
Agreement. 

 
15. Product of Services; Copyright. All materials developed or acquired by the 

Agency in performing its work under this Agreement which rightfully belongs to 
the Agency shall remain the property of the State of New Mexico and be 
delivered to HPD no later than the termination date of this Agreement. Nothing 
produced in whole or in part by the Agency using materials or information 
submitted by, or obtained from the Agency in performing work under this 
Agreement shall be the subject of an application for copyright by or on behalf of 
HPD without the prior approval in writing from HPD. However, it is understood 
that HPD has previously secured the copyright to some of the materials that will 
be utilized by the Agency in performing the scope of work under this Agreement. 

 
16. Amendment. This Agreement shall not be altered, changed or amended except 

by instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto. The parties may 
mutually agree to extend the term of this Agreement for limited periods of time 
not to exceed the maximum two-year grant period. 

 
17. Scope of Agreement. This Agreement incorporates all the agreements, 

preservation agreements and understandings between HPD and the Agency 
concerning the subject matter hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and 
understandings have been merged into this written Agreement. 

 
 No prior agreement or understanding, verbal or otherwise, of the parties of their 

agents shall be valid or enforceable unless embodied in this Agreement. 
 
18. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New 

Mexico. 
 

19. Equal Opportunity Compliance. The Agency agrees to abide by all federal and 
state laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders of the Governor of the 
State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment opportunity. In 
accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders of 
the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the Agency agrees to assure that no 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 6 of 7 

person in the United States shall, on the grounds of race, religion, color, national 
origin, ancestry, sex, sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from 
employment with or participation in, be denied the benefits, or be otherwise 
subjected to discrimination under, any program or activity performed under this 
Agreement. If the Agency is found to not be in compliance with these 
requirements during the term of the Agreement, the Agency agrees to take 
appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies. 

 
20. Civil Rights Laws and Regulations Compliance. The Department and HPD shall 

comply with all federal, state, and local laws and ordinances applicable to the 
work called for herein. The Agency and HPD further agree to operate under 
and be controlled by Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age 
Discrimination Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the 
Environmental Justice Act of 1994, the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, the 
New Mexico Human Rights Act, the Executive Order No. 11246 entitled "Equal 
Employment Opportunity," as amended by Executive Order 11375 and as 
supplemented by the Department of Labor regulations (43 CFR 60). Accordingly, 
49 CFR 21 is applicable to this Agreement and incorporated herein by reference. 

 
21. New Mexico Tort Claims Act. Neither party shall be responsible for liability 

incurred as a result of the other party's act or omissions in connection with this 
Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to 
the immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act Section 41-4-1, 
et seq., as amended thereto. This paragraph is intended only to define the 
liabilities as governed by common law or the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. HPD 
and its "public employees" as defined in the New Mexico Tort Claims Act and the 
Agency and it's "public employees" as defined in the New Mexico Tort Claims 
Act, do not waive sovereign immunity, do not waive any defense and/or do 
not waive any limitation of liability pursuant to law. No provision in this 
Agreement modifies and/or waives any provision of the New Mexico Tort Claims 
Act. 

 
22. Preservation Agreement. Both parties of this Agreement shall complete a 

Preservation Agreement, attached as Appendix A, which stipulates the 
preservation and protection of the cultural property for ten years (10 years). 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MICHELLE ENSEY  DEBRA GARCIA Y GRIEGO 



Sierra County, Hillsboro Community Center, CPRF Grant Program – Joint Powers Agreement, Page 7 of 7 

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER 
 

 SECRETARY 
DEPARTMENT OF CULTURAL AFFAIRS 
 

   
DATE  DATE 

 
 
 

AMBER VAUGHN  
COUNTY MANAGER 
SIERRA COUNTY 

 

  
DATE  

 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency on this        day of     , 2024, by the 
Department of Cultural Affairs, General Counsel. 

By:  
 General Counsel 

 
 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency on this   day of  , 2024, by the 
Office of the Atorney General. 

 
By:  

 Assistant Attorney General 
 
This Agreement has been approved by: 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
By:    

 Assistant Attorney General  Date 
 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
Between Sierra County and Truth or Consequences School District for Student 

Admission to School Sporting Events 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into on this 19th day of August, 
2025, by and between Sierra County, a political subdivision of the State of New Mexico, 
hereinafter referred to as "the County," and the Truth or Consequences School District, 
hereinafter referred to as "the District." 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County met in a duly noticed 
regular meeting on August 19, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. in the Sierra County Administration 
Building, 1712 North Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901; and 

WHEREAS, Sierra County recognizes the importance of promoting student engagement, 
school spirit, and overall well-being through active participation in school-sponsored and 
community activities, including attendance at athletic events; and 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners is committed to supporting 
local youth by removing financial barriers that may prevent student participation in such 
events; and 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners desires to enter into a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the School District to provide County 
funding to cover the cost of student admission to regular season school sporting events; 
and 

WHEREAS, the parties acknowledge that ensuring all students have access to attend 
school athletic events free of charge supports the County’s broader goals of youth 
development, equitable opportunity, and community cohesion; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners is authorized under NMSA 1978, 
Sections 4-38-1, 4-38-13, and 4-38-16 to make such orders and contracts as it deems 
expedient for the benefit of the County and its residents. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and mutual promises 
and covenants hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows: 

 
 

 
 

 



Terms of Agreement 
 

1.​ Funding 

   Sierra County agrees to provide the District with a total of $4,000.00 for the 2025–2026 
school year to be used solely for covering the cost of admission for District students 
to regular season home sporting events. 

2.​ Eligibility 

All students currently enrolled in the Truth or Consequences School District will be 
eligible for free admission to regular season home sporting events during the covered 
period. 

3.​ Use of Funds 

The District agrees that these funds will not be used for any purpose other than offsetting 
lost revenue from waived student ticket sales. The funds may not be used for 
post-season events, tournaments, or other non-regular season activities without 
written approval from the County. 

4.​ Reporting 

The District will provide a brief report to the County at the end of the school year, 
including the total number of students who attended under the program, events 
covered, and a  

summary of how the funds were utilized.   

5.​ Duration 

This MOU will be effective from the date signed and will remain in effect through the 
end of the 2025–2026 academic year unless terminated earlier by mutual agreement. 

6.​ Amendments 

Any changes to this MOU must be made in writing and signed by both parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Party has executed this Agreement effective upon the 
approval of both parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Approved, adopted and passed this 19th day of August 2025. 
 

SIERRA COUNTY 
​ BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS​  
 
______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TRUTH OR CONSEQUENCES SCHOOL DISTRICT​
 

 

By: ____________________________​
Name: ___Nichole Burgin__________​
Title: __Superintendent ____________​
Date: August 11, 2025  



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN SIERRA COUNTY AND THE 
SIERRA COUNTY ARROYO FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Arroyo Flood Control District ("SCAFCD" or "the District") was 
duly established by the electorate of Sierra County on November 5, 2024, to mitigate flood risks, 
protect public and private property, and promote public safety through proactive flood control 
measures; 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized to impose a half-mill levy to fund its operations, though 
proceeds will not be available until January 2026; 

WHEREAS, the District requires immediate operational funding to hire administrative and legal 
staff, initiate planning activities, and pursue supplemental funding opportunities to address flood 
hazards throughout Sierra County, including its municipalities; 

WHEREAS, Sierra County, recognizes the urgent need for regional flood control and wish to 
support the successful launch of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the parties are desirous of memorializing their collaboration and mutual commitment 
to provide temporary seed funding to SCAFCD through this Memorandum of Understanding; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to outline the mutual commitments of the 
parties to provide temporary seed funding in support of the Sierra County Arroyo Flood Control 
District’s initial operations, to promote intergovernmental coordination in addressing flood risks 
countywide, and to foster equitable financial participation by local government stakeholders. 

2. Contributions 

Sierra County agrees to contribute the following amount toward the operational seed funding of 
the district: 

Sierra County: $200,000.00 

All funds shall be disbursed to SCAFCD within 30 days of execution of this MOU or pursuant to 
a schedule mutually agreed upon in writing. 

3. Use of Funds 

Funds provided under this MOU shall be used exclusively for the following purposes: 
a. Compensation of an Executive Director and legal counsel; 

b. Procurement of essential administrative services and supplies; 



c. Preliminary planning and identification of flood-prone areas; 

d. Grant research and application development; 

e. Community engagement and intergovernmental coordination activities. 

The District shall maintain full and transparent accounting of all expenditures and shall submit a 
financial report to the Participating Entities within 90 days of the end of the District’s fiscal year. 

4. Duration 

This MOU shall remain in effect until December 31, 2025, unless extended or terminated earlier 
in accordance with Section 7 below. 

5. Non-Appropriation 

The obligations of each Participating Entity under this MOU are contingent upon the appropriation 
of sufficient funds by its governing body. If any entity does not appropriate such funds, that entity 
may withdraw from this MOU upon 30 days’ written notice to the other parties. 

6. Status of Employees 

All individuals hired or retained by SCAFCD pursuant to this MOU shall be employees or 
contractors of the District and shall not be considered employees of any Participating Entity. 

7. Termination 

Any party may withdraw from this MOU by providing 30 days’ written notice to the other parties. 
Upon such withdrawal, the withdrawing party shall not be entitled to a refund of any funds 
previously disbursed. 

8. General Provisions 

a. Governing Law: This MOU shall be governed by the laws of the State of New Mexico. 

b. Amendments: This MOU may be amended only in writing signed by all parties. 

c. No Waiver of Immunity: Nothing in this MOU shall be construed as a waiver of sovereign 
immunity by any party under the New Mexico Tort Claims Act or the New Mexico Civil Rights 
Act. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Memorandum of Understanding as of 
the dates below. 

 

 

SIERRA COUNTY 
By: ___________________________________ 



Name: Amber Vaughn 
Title:  County Manager 
Date:  
 

SIERRA COUNTY ARROYO FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT 
By: ___________________________________ 
Name: Barry Ragsdale 
Title: Chair, SCAFCD 
Date: 
 

 



 

  Sierra County 
Reach, Intervene, Support and Engage 

The Olive Tree 
  

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between The Olive Tree and The 
Sierra County, hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor”, and is effective as of the date set 
forth below upon which it is executed. 
  
IT IS AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES:  
 
1. Scope of Work. 
 The Contractor shall perform the work outlined in the Scope of Work attached 
hereto as Attachment 1 and incorporated herein by reference. The “CONTRACTOR”  will 
work under the direction of Lisa Daniel of the Olive Tree. The Contractor will implement 
the requirements of the program as described in the SOW.   
 
2. Compensation 
 

A. The County shall pay to the “CONTRACTOR” in full payment for services 
satisfactorily performed $11,588.00 annually, inclusive of Gross Receipts Tax, to be 
invoiced in equal monthly amounts after performance of the services beginning July 1, 
2025 and ending June 30, 2026, with 1 year additional automatic extension, if the grant is 
extended. This sum will cover the cost of the Olive Tree overseeing the direct services in 
carrying out the services outlined in the BHIZ grant and all items necessary to complete 
the scope of work.  
 
In no event will the “CONTRACTOR” be paid any amount in excess of the specified total 
amount payable without this Agreement being amended in writing. 
 
 B. Payment is subject to availability of funds pursuant to the Appropriations 
Paragraph set forth below and to any negotiations between the parties from year to year 
pursuant to Paragraph 1, Scope of Work.  All invoices MUST BE received by the County 
no later than fifteen (15) days after the termination of the Fiscal Year in which the services 
were delivered.  Invoices received after such date WILL NOT BE PAID. 
     
 C.  “CONTRACTOR” must submit a detailed statement accounting for all 
services performed, specified on a minimum of a quarter hour basis, and expenses incurred.  
If the County finds that the services are not acceptable, within thirty days after the date of 
receipt of written notice from the “CONTRACTOR” that payment is requested, it shall 
provide the “CONTRACTOR” a letter of exception explaining the defect or objection to 
the services, and outlining steps the “CONTRACTOR” may take to provide remedial 
action.  Upon certification by the County that the services have been received and accepted, 
payment shall be tendered to the “CONTRACTOR” within thirty days after the date of 
acceptance. If payment is made by mail, the payment shall be deemed tendered on the date 



it is postmarked.  However, the County shall not incur late charges, interest, or penalties 
for failure to make payment within the time specified herein. 
     
 D.  The payment of taxes due for any money received under this Agreement 
shall be the “CONTRACTOR”'s sole responsibility and shall be reported under the 
“CONTRACTOR”'s Federal and State tax identification number(s). 
 
 
3. Term. 
 This Agreement will begin on July 1, 20225 and will end June 30, 206. This 
Contract shall renew for an additional one-year term, contingent upon RISE Grant Funding 
being awarded for an additional calendar year. 
 
4. Termination. 
 Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either of the parties hereto 
upon written notice delivered to the other party at least thirty (30) days prior to the intended 
date of termination.  Except as otherwise allowed or provided under this Agreement, the 
Olive Tree’s sole liability upon such termination shall be to pay for acceptable work 
performed prior to the Contractor’s receipt of the notice of termination, if Sierra County is 
the terminating party, or the Contractor’s sending of the notice of termination, if the 
Contractor is the terminating party; provided, however, that a notice of termination shall 
not nullify or otherwise affect either party’s liability for pre-termination defaults under or 
breaches of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall submit an invoice for such work within 
thirty (30) days of receiving or sending the notice of termination.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, this Agreement may be terminated immediately upon written notice to the 
Contractor if the Contractor becomes unable to perform the services contracted for, as 
determined by the Sierra County or if, during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor 
or any of its officers, employees or agents is indicted for fraud, embezzlement or other 
crime due to misuse of government funds or due to the Appropriations paragraph herein.  
 
 
5. Appropriations. 
 The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and 
authorization being made by the Board of County Commissioners for the performance of 
this Agreement.  If sufficient appropriations and authorization are not made by the Board 
of County Commissioners, this Agreement shall terminate immediately upon written notice 
being given by the County to the “CONTRACTOR”. The County's decision as to whether 
sufficient appropriations are available shall be accepted by the “CONTRACTOR” and shall 
be final. If the County proposes an amendment to the Agreement to unilaterally reduce 
funding, the “CONTRACTOR” shall have the option to terminate the Agreement or to 
agree to the reduced funding, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the proposed amendment. 
 
6. Status of “CONTRACTOR”. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” and its agents and employees are independent 
“CONTRACTOR”s performing professional services for the County and are not 
employees of the County of Sierra. The “CONTRACTOR” and its agents and employees 



shall not accrue leave, retirement, insurance, bonding, use of county vehicles, or any other 
benefits afforded to employees of the County of Sierra as a result of this Agreement.  The 
“CONTRACTOR” acknowledges that all sums received hereunder are reportable by the 
“CONTRACTOR” for tax purposes, including without limitation, self-employment and 
business income tax.  The “CONTRACTOR” agrees not to purport to bind the County of 
Sierra unless the “CONTRACTOR” has express written authority to do so, and then only 
within the strict limits of that authority. 
 
7. Assignment. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement 
or assign any claims for money due or to become due under this Agreement without the 
prior written approval of the County. 
 
8. Subcontracting. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall not subcontract any portion of the services to be 
performed under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the County. No such 
subcontract shall relieve the primary “CONTRACTOR” from its obligations and liabilities 
under this Agreement, nor shall any subcontract obligate direct payment from the County. 
In all cases, the “CONTRACTOR” is solely responsible for fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 
9. Release. 
 Final payment of the amounts due under this Agreement shall operate as a release 
of the procuring agency of the County, its officers and employees, and the County of Sierra 
from all liabilities, claims and obligations whatsoever arising from or under this 
Agreement.   
 
10. Confidentiality. 
 Any confidential information provided to or developed by the “CONTRACTOR” 
in the performance of this Agreement shall be kept confidential and shall not be made 
available to any individual or organization by the “CONTRACTOR” without the prior 
written approval of the County.  
 
11. Product of Service -- Copyright. 
 All materials developed or acquired by the “CONTRACTOR” under this 
Agreement shall become the property of the County of Sierra and shall be delivered to the 
County no later than the termination date of this Agreement.  Nothing developed or 
produced, in whole or in part, by the “CONTRACTOR” under this Agreement shall be the 
subject of an application for copyright or other claim of ownership by or on behalf of the 
“CONTRACTOR”. 
 
12. Conflict of Interest; Governmental Conduct Act. 
 A. The “CONTRACTOR” represents and warrants that it presently has no 
interest and, during the term of this Agreement, shall not acquire any interest, direct or 
indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance or services 
required under the Agreement.   
 



 B. The “CONTRACTOR” further represents and warrants that it has complied 
with, and, during the term of this Agreement, will continue to comply with, and that this 
Agreement complies with all applicable provisions of the Governmental Conduct Act, 
Chapter 10, Article 16 NMSA 1978.  Without in anyway limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the “CONTRACTOR” specifically represents and warrants that: 
  1) in accordance with Section 10-16-4.3 NMSA 1978, the 
“CONTRACTOR” does not employ, has not employed, and will not employ during the 
term of this Agreement any County employee while such employee was or is employed by 
the County and participating directly or indirectly in the County’s contracting process;  
  2)  this Agreement complies with Section 10-16-7(B) NMSA 1978 
because (i) the “CONTRACTOR” is not a public officer or employee of the County; (ii) 
the “CONTRACTOR” is not a member of the family of a public officer or employee of the 
County; (iii) the “CONTRACTOR” is not a business in which a public officer or employee 
or the family of a public officer or employee has a substantial interest; or (iv) if the 
“CONTRACTOR” is a public officer or employee of the County, a member of the family 
of a public officer or employee of the County, or a business in which a public officer or 
employee of the County or the family of a public officer or employee of the County has a 
substantial interest, public notice was given as required by Section 10-16-7(B) NMSA 1978 
and this Agreement was awarded pursuant to a competitive process;  
  3) in accordance with Section 10-16-8(C) NMSA 1978, (i) the 
“CONTRACTOR” is not, and has not been represented by, a person who has been a public 
officer or employee of the County within the preceding year and whose official act directly 
resulted in this Agreement and (ii) the “CONTRACTOR” is not, and has not been assisted 
in any way regarding this transaction by, a former public officer or employee of the County 
whose official act, while in County employment, directly resulted in the County's making 
this Agreement;  
  4) in accordance with Section 10-16-13 NMSA 1978, the 
“CONTRACTOR” has not directly participated in the preparation of specifications, 
qualifications or evaluation criteria for this Agreement or any procurement related to this 
Agreement; and 
  5) in accordance with Section 10-16-3 and Section 10-16-13.3 NMSA 
1978, the “CONTRACTOR” has not contributed, and during the term of this Agreement 
shall not contribute, anything of value to a public officer or employee of the County. 
 
 C. “CONTRACTOR’s” representations and warranties in Paragraphs A and B 
of this Article 12 are material representations of fact upon which the County relied when 
this Agreement was entered into by the parties.  “CONTRACTOR” shall provide 
immediate written notice to the County if, at any time during the term of this Agreement, 
“CONTRACTOR” learns that “CONTRACTOR”’s representations and warranties in 
Paragraphs A and B of this Article 12 were erroneous on the effective date of this 
Agreement or have become erroneous by reason of new or changed circumstances. If it is 
later determined that “CONTRACTOR”’s representations and warranties in Paragraphs A 
and B of this Article 12 were erroneous on the effective date of this Agreement or have 
become erroneous by reason of new or changed circumstances, in addition to other 
remedies available to the County and notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the 
contrary, the County may immediately terminate the Agreement. 



 
 D. All terms defined in the Governmental Conduct Act have the same meaning 
in this Article 12(B). 
 
13. Amendment. 
 This Agreement shall not be altered, changed or amended except by instrument in 
writing executed by the parties hereto and all other required signatories. 
 
14. Merger. 
 This Agreement incorporates all the Agreements, covenants and understandings 
between the parties hereto concerning the subject matter hereof, and all such covenants, 
Agreements and understandings have been merged into this written Agreement.  No prior 
Agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, of the parties or their agents shall be valid 
or enforceable unless embodied in this Agreement. 
 
15. Penalties for violation of law. 
 The Procurement Code, Sections 13-1-28 through 13-1-199, NMSA 1978, imposes 
civil and criminal penalties for its violation.  In addition, the New Mexico criminal statutes 
impose felony penalties for illegal bribes, gratuities and kickbacks. 
 
16. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” agrees to abide by all federal, state and county laws and 
rules and regulations, pertaining to equal employment opportunity.  In accordance with all 
such laws, the “CONTRACTOR” assures that no person in the United States shall, on the 
grounds of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, physical or mental 
handicap, or serious medical condition, spousal affiliation, sexual orientation or gender 
identity, be excluded from employment with or participation in, be denied the benefits of, 
or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity performed under 
this Agreement.  If “CONTRACTOR” is found not to be in compliance with these 
requirements during the life of this Agreement, “CONTRACTOR” agrees to take 
appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies. 
 
17. Applicable Law. 
 In any action, suit or legal dispute arising from this Agreement, the 
“CONTRACTOR” agrees that the laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern and that 
venue will lie in the Seventh Judicial District Court in Sierra County. By execution of this 
Agreement, “CONTRACTOR” acknowledges and agrees to the jurisdiction of the courts 
of the State of New Mexico over any and all lawsuits arising under or out of any term of 
this Agreement. 
 
18. Workers Compensation. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” agrees to comply with state laws and rules applicable to 
workers compensation benefits for its employees. If the “CONTRACTOR” fails to comply 
with the Workers Compensation Act and applicable rules when required to do so, this 
Agreement may be terminated by the County. 
 



19. Records and Financial Audit. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall maintain detailed time and expenditure records that 
indicate the date; time, nature and cost of services rendered during the Agreement’s term 
and effect and retain them for a period of three (3) years from the date of final payment 
under this Agreement.  The records shall be subject to inspection by the County, the 
Department of Finance and Administration and the State Auditor.  The County shall have 
the right to audit billings both before and after payment.  Payment under this Agreement 
shall not foreclose the right of the County to recover excessive or illegal payments 
 
20. Disclaimer and Hold Harmless. 
 Sierra County shall not be liable to the “CONTRACTOR”, or the 
“CONTRACTOR”’s successors, heirs, administrators, or assigns, for any loss, damage, or 
injury, whether to “CONTRACTOR”'s person or property, occurring in connection with 
“CONTRACTOR”'s performance of “CONTRACTOR”'s duties according to this 
Agreement.  “CONTRACTOR” shall hold the Sierra County harmless from all loss, 
damage, and injury, including court costs and attorney fees, incurred by Sierra County in 
connection with the performance by “CONTRACTOR” of “CONTRACTOR”'s duties 
according to this Agreement. 
 
21. Indemnification. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County of 
Sierra from all actions, proceeding, claims, demands, costs, damages, attorneys’ fees and 
all other liabilities and expenses of any kind from any source which may arise out of the 
performance of this Agreement, caused by the negligent act or failure to act of the 
“CONTRACTOR”, its officers, employees, servants, sub “CONTRACTOR”s or agents, or 
if caused by the actions of any client of the “CONTRACTOR” resulting in injury or 
damage to persons or property during the time when the “CONTRACTOR” or any officer, 
agent, employee, servant or sub “CONTRACTOR” thereof has or is performing services 
pursuant to this Agreement.  In the event that any action, suit or proceeding related to the 
services performed by the “CONTRACTOR” or any officer, agent, employee, servant or 
sub “CONTRACTOR” under this Agreement is brought against the “CONTRACTOR”, 
the “CONTRACTOR” shall, as soon as practicable but no later than two (2) days after it 
receives notice thereof, notify the legal counsel of the County of Sierra and the New 
Mexico Association of Counties by certified mail. 
 
22. Invalid Term or Condition. 
 If any term or condition of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected and shall be valid and enforceable. 
 
23. Enforcement of Agreement. 
 A party's failure to require strict performance of any provision of this Agreement 
shall not waive or diminish that party's right thereafter to demand strict compliance with 
that or any other provision.  No waiver by a party of any of its rights under this Agreement 
shall be effective unless express and in writing, and no effective waiver by a party of any 
of its rights shall be effective to waive any other rights. 
 



24. Authority. 
 If “CONTRACTOR” is other than a natural person, the individual(s) signing this 
Agreement on behalf of “CONTRACTOR” represents and warrants that he or she has the 
power and authority to bind “CONTRACTOR”, and that no further action, resolution, or 
approval from “CONTRACTOR” is necessary to enter into a binding contract.  
 
25.       Lobbying. 

No federal appropriated funds can be paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
“CONTRACTOR”, or any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any County, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal 
contract, or the making of any Federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering 
into of any cooperative agreement, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement.  If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid 
or will be paid to any person influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee 
of any County, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee 
of a Member of Congress in connection of this federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, the “CONTRACTOR” shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, 
“Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

 
26. Approval of “CONTRACTOR” Personnel. 

Personnel proposed in the “CONTRACTOR”'s written proposal to the County are 
considered material to any work performed under this Agreement. Replacement of any 
“CONTRACTOR” personnel shall be with personnel of equal ability, experience and 
qualifications.  The “CONTRACTOR” will be responsible for any expenses incurred in 
familiarizing the replacement personnel to insure their being productive to the project 
immediately upon receiving assignments.  Approval of replacement personnel shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The procuring agency of the County shall retain the right to request 
the removal of any of the “CONTRACTOR”'s personnel at any time.  

 
27. Survival. 

The agreement paragraphs titled “Patent, Copyright, Trademark, and Trade Secret 
Indemnification” and “Indemnification” shall survive the expiration of this agreement. 
Software licenses, leases, maintenance and any other unexpired agreements that were 
entered into under the terms and conditions of this agreement shall survive this agreement 

 
28. Succession. 

This agreement shall extend to and be binding upon the successors and assigns of 
the parties. 

 
29. Force Majeure. 

A party shall be excused from performance under this agreement for any period 
that the party is prevented from performing as a result of an act of God, strike, war, civil 
disturbance, epidemic, or court order, provided that the party has prudently and promptly 
acted to take any and all steps that are within the party's control to ensure performance.  



Subject to this provision, such non-performance shall not be deemed a default or a ground 
for termination. 
 
30. Mediation. 
 In the event a dispute arises as to the rights and obligations among the parties hereto, 
the parties agree to attempt to resolve the dispute through mediation as a condition 
precedent to seeking legal and equitable remedies.   The parties agree to evenly split the 
costs of any such mediation services.  The parties shall mutually agree upon the choice of 
mediator.  In the event the parties have not agreed upon a mediator within twenty (20) days 
of written notice to the other regarding the dispute, then a list of seven potential mediators 
will be obtained from the New Mexico Association of Counties and the parties shall utilize 
a striking process until a mediator is agreed upon. 
 
31. Notice to Proceed. 

It is expressly understood that this Agreement is not binding upon the County until 
it is executed by the Board of County Commissioners after voting on the contract at a public 
meeting. Further, the “CONTRACTOR” is not to proceed with its obligations under the 
Agreement until the “CONTRACTOR” has received a fully signed copy of the Agreement. 
 
32. Attorney’s Fees. 

In the event this Agreement results in dispute, mediation, litigation, or settlement 
between the parties to this Agreement, the prevailing party of such action shall NOT be 
entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and court costs. 
 
33. Cooperation. 

All parties hereto will fully cooperate with the other and their respective counsel, 
accountant, and agents in connection with any steps required to be taken under this 
Agreement. 
 
34. Incorporation and Order of Precedence. 

The “CONTRACTOR”'s proposal are incorporated by reference into this 
agreement and are made a part of this agreement. In the event of any conflict among these 
documents, the following order of precedence shall apply: 

 
1. Any contract amendment(s), in reverse chronological order; and, 
2. this contract itself. 

 
 
35. Patent, Copyright, Trademark and Trade Secret Indemnification. 
 

A. The “CONTRACTOR” shall defend, at its own expense, the County of 
Sierra against any claim that any product or service provided under this agreement infringes 
any patent, copyright or trademark in the United States or Puerto Rico, and shall pay all 
costs, damages and attorneys' fees that a court finally awards as a result of any such claim.  
In addition, if any third party obtains a judgment against the County of Sierra based upon 
the “CONTRACTOR”'s trade secret infringement relating to any product or service 



provided under this agreement, the “CONTRACTOR” agrees to reimburse the County of 
Sierra for all costs, attorneys' fees and the amount of the judgment.  To qualify for such 
defense and/or payment, the County of Sierra shall: 

 
i. give the “CONTRACTOR” prompt written notice of any claim; 
 
ii. allow the “CONTRACTOR” to control the defense or settlement of the 

claim; and 
 
iii. cooperate with the “CONTRACTOR” in a reasonable way to facilitate the 

defense or settlement of the claim. 
 
B. If any product or service becomes, or in the “CONTRACTOR”'s opinion is 

likely to become the subject of a claim of infringement, the “CONTRACTOR” shall at its 
option and expense:   

 
i.  provide a procuring agency of the County the right to continue using the 

product or service; 
 
ii. replace or modify the product or service so that it becomes non-infringing; 

or  
 
iii.  accept the return of the product or service and refund an amount equal to 

the depreciated value of the returned product or service, less the unpaid portion of the 
purchase price and any other amounts which are due to the “CONTRACTOR”.  The 
“CONTRACTOR”'s obligation will be void as to any product or service modified by the 
procuring agency of the County to the extent such modification is the cause of the claim. 
 
36. Professional Liability Insurance. 
 “CONTRACTOR” agrees to maintain in full force throughout the duration of the 
Agreement a liability insurance policy with a minimum coverage of: Comprehensive 
General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 General Aggregate; 
Professional liability- $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 General Aggregate.  
Occurrence type, if available; if not "Claims Made" type with a minimum of a six (6) 
year tail. The County will be named as an additional insured on said policy, and will be 
provided an updated certificate of insurance on an annual basis. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF SIERRA 

 
37.  Notices. 
Any notice required to be given to either party by this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be delivered in person, by courier service or by U.S. mail, either first class or certified, 
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, as follows: 
 
To: County of Sierra 
  
Chief Procurement Officer  
1712 N Date St 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
 
  
To the “CONTRACTOR”’s 
 
Printed Name:  
Lisa Daniel 
Executive Director 
The Olive Tree 
Address:  
808 Fir 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date 
of signature below: 
 
 
Contractor Signature: __________________________ Date: ________________ 
   Lisa Daniel 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date 
of signature by the County Chief Procurement Officer below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________ Date: ____________________________ 
Amber Vaughn , County Manager  



 
 
 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED on this __ day of __, 2025 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 Travis Day , Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon y, Vice- Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins , Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
Sierra County Chief Procurement Officer: 
 
By: ______________________________ Date: ___________________________ 
 
CPO 
Sierra County 
 
 
 



 
 
 
To: 
The Olive Tree  
Lisa Daniel  
808 Fir 
Truth or Consequences,  
NM 87901 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
ATTACHMENT 1 

 
SCOPE OF SERVICES  

 

The CONTRACTOR shall perform the following work: 
 

• Oversee and implement the Sierra County Behavioral Health 
Investment Zones project 

• Ensure positive outcomes and compliance with grant(s) scope of work 
requirements. 

• Complete Data Collection information as required by SOW and provide 
them to Sierra County monthly tracking all services, develop and keep 
records of all services offered, the number of participants in each 
program, and the completion rate.   

• Maintain backup documentation through a general ledger or itemized 
receipts for expenditures. 

• Sub-contract with other health care providers including physicians, 
psychologists, psychiatrists, clinicians, therapists, group facilitators, 
Certified Peer Support Workers educators and other service providers as 
needed in order to complete the grant scope of work. 

• Bill the county monthly for services rendered under each component of 
the program ensuring all invoices are received, reviewed, and submitted 
to the county. 

• Complete grant reports, tracking hours and other data elements of the 
program. 

• Provide monthly reports on outcomes and program. 
• Write Procedures for implementing the program. 
• Work with HCA personnel. 

 



 

  Sierra County 
Behavioral Health Investment Zone 

The Olive Tree 
  

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between The Olive Tree and The 
Sierra County, hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor”, and is effective as of the date set 
forth below upon which it is executed. 
  
IT IS AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES:  
 
1. Scope of Work. 
 The Contractor shall perform the work outlined in the Scope of Work attached 
hereto as Attachment 1 and incorporated herein by reference. The “CONTRACTOR”  will 
work under the direction of Lisa Daniel of the Olive Tree. The Contractor will implement 
the requirements of the program as described in the SOW.   
 
2. Compensation 
 

A. The County shall pay to the “CONTRACTOR” in full payment for services 
satisfactorily performed $12,000.00, inclusive of Gross Receipts Tax, to be invoiced in 
equal monthly amounts after performance of the services beginning July 1, 2025 and 
ending June 30, 2026.  This sum will cover the cost of the Olive Tree overseeing the direct 
services in carrying out the services outlined in the BHIZ grant and all items necessary to 
complete the scope of work.  
 
In no event will the “CONTRACTOR” be paid any amount in excess of the specified total 
amount payable without this Agreement being amended in writing. 
 
 B. Payment is subject to availability of funds pursuant to the Appropriations 
Paragraph set forth below and to any negotiations between the parties from year to year 
pursuant to Paragraph 1, Scope of Work.  All invoices MUST BE received by the County 
no later than fifteen (15) days after the termination of the Fiscal Year in which the services 
were delivered.  Invoices received after such date WILL NOT BE PAID. 
     
 C.  “CONTRACTOR” must submit a detailed statement accounting for all 
services performed, specified on a minimum of a quarter hour basis, and expenses incurred.  
If the County finds that the services are not acceptable, within thirty days after the date of 
receipt of written notice from the “CONTRACTOR” that payment is requested, it shall 
provide the “CONTRACTOR” a letter of exception explaining the defect or objection to 
the services, and outlining steps the “CONTRACTOR” may take to provide remedial 
action.  Upon certification by the County that the services have been received and accepted, 
payment shall be tendered to the “CONTRACTOR” within thirty days after the date of 
acceptance. If payment is made by mail, the payment shall be deemed tendered on the date 



it is postmarked.  However, the County shall not incur late charges, interest, or penalties 
for failure to make payment within the time specified herein. 
     
 D.  The payment of taxes due for any money received under this Agreement 
shall be the “CONTRACTOR”'s sole responsibility and shall be reported under the 
“CONTRACTOR”'s Federal and State tax identification number(s). 
 
 
3. Term. 
 This Agreement is will begin on July 1, 2025 and will end June 30, 2026. 
 
4. Termination. 
 Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either of the parties hereto 
upon written notice delivered to the other party at least thirty (30) days prior to the intended 
date of termination.  Except as otherwise allowed or provided under this Agreement, the 
Olive Tree’s sole liability upon such termination shall be to pay for acceptable work 
performed prior to the Contractor’s receipt of the notice of termination, if Sierra County is 
the terminating party, or the Contractor’s sending of the notice of termination, if the 
Contractor is the terminating party; provided, however, that a notice of termination shall 
not nullify or otherwise affect either party’s liability for pre-termination defaults under or 
breaches of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall submit an invoice for such work within 
thirty (30) days of receiving or sending the notice of termination.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, this Agreement may be terminated immediately upon written notice to the 
Contractor if the Contractor becomes unable to perform the services contracted for, as 
determined by the Sierra County or if, during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor 
or any of its officers, employees or agents is indicted for fraud, embezzlement or other 
crime due to misuse of government funds or due to the Appropriations paragraph herein.  
 
 
5. Appropriations. 
 The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and 
authorization being made by the Board of County Commissioners for the performance of 
this Agreement.  If sufficient appropriations and authorization are not made by the Board 
of County Commissioners, this Agreement shall terminate immediately upon written notice 
being given by the County to the “CONTRACTOR”. The County's decision as to whether 
sufficient appropriations are available shall be accepted by the “CONTRACTOR” and shall 
be final. If the County proposes an amendment to the Agreement to unilaterally reduce 
funding, the “CONTRACTOR” shall have the option to terminate the Agreement or to 
agree to the reduced funding, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the proposed amendment. 
 
6. Status of “CONTRACTOR”. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” and its agents and employees are independent 
“CONTRACTOR”s performing professional services for the County and are not 
employees of the County of Sierra. The “CONTRACTOR” and its agents and employees 
shall not accrue leave, retirement, insurance, bonding, use of county vehicles, or any other 
benefits afforded to employees of the County of Sierra as a result of this Agreement.  The 



“CONTRACTOR” acknowledges that all sums received hereunder are reportable by the 
“CONTRACTOR” for tax purposes, including without limitation, self-employment and 
business income tax.  The “CONTRACTOR” agrees not to purport to bind the County of 
Sierra unless the “CONTRACTOR” has express written authority to do so, and then only 
within the strict limits of that authority. 
 
7. Assignment. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement 
or assign any claims for money due or to become due under this Agreement without the 
prior written approval of the County. 
 
8. Subcontracting. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall not subcontract any portion of the services to be 
performed under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the County. No such 
subcontract shall relieve the primary “CONTRACTOR” from its obligations and liabilities 
under this Agreement, nor shall any subcontract obligate direct payment from the County. 
In all cases, the “CONTRACTOR” is solely responsible for fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 
9. Release. 
 Final payment of the amounts due under this Agreement shall operate as a release 
of the procuring agency of the County, its officers and employees, and the County of Sierra 
from all liabilities, claims and obligations whatsoever arising from or under this 
Agreement.   
 
10. Confidentiality. 
 Any confidential information provided to or developed by the “CONTRACTOR” 
in the performance of this Agreement shall be kept confidential and shall not be made 
available to any individual or organization by the “CONTRACTOR” without the prior 
written approval of the County.  
 
11. Product of Service -- Copyright. 
 All materials developed or acquired by the “CONTRACTOR” under this 
Agreement shall become the property of the County of Sierra and shall be delivered to the 
County no later than the termination date of this Agreement.  Nothing developed or 
produced, in whole or in part, by the “CONTRACTOR” under this Agreement shall be the 
subject of an application for copyright or other claim of ownership by or on behalf of the 
“CONTRACTOR”. 
 
12. Conflict of Interest; Governmental Conduct Act. 
 A. The “CONTRACTOR” represents and warrants that it presently has no 
interest and, during the term of this Agreement, shall not acquire any interest, direct or 
indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance or services 
required under the Agreement.   
 
 B. The “CONTRACTOR” further represents and warrants that it has complied 
with, and, during the term of this Agreement, will continue to comply with, and that this 



Agreement complies with all applicable provisions of the Governmental Conduct Act, 
Chapter 10, Article 16 NMSA 1978.  Without in anyway limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the “CONTRACTOR” specifically represents and warrants that: 
  1) in accordance with Section 10-16-4.3 NMSA 1978, the 
“CONTRACTOR” does not employ, has not employed, and will not employ during the 
term of this Agreement any County employee while such employee was or is employed by 
the County and participating directly or indirectly in the County’s contracting process;  
  2)  this Agreement complies with Section 10-16-7(B) NMSA 1978 
because (i) the “CONTRACTOR” is not a public officer or employee of the County; (ii) 
the “CONTRACTOR” is not a member of the family of a public officer or employee of the 
County; (iii) the “CONTRACTOR” is not a business in which a public officer or employee 
or the family of a public officer or employee has a substantial interest; or (iv) if the 
“CONTRACTOR” is a public officer or employee of the County, a member of the family 
of a public officer or employee of the County, or a business in which a public officer or 
employee of the County or the family of a public officer or employee of the County has a 
substantial interest, public notice was given as required by Section 10-16-7(B) NMSA 1978 
and this Agreement was awarded pursuant to a competitive process;  
  3) in accordance with Section 10-16-8(C) NMSA 1978, (i) the 
“CONTRACTOR” is not, and has not been represented by, a person who has been a public 
officer or employee of the County within the preceding year and whose official act directly 
resulted in this Agreement and (ii) the “CONTRACTOR” is not, and has not been assisted 
in any way regarding this transaction by, a former public officer or employee of the County 
whose official act, while in County employment, directly resulted in the County's making 
this Agreement;  
  4) in accordance with Section 10-16-13 NMSA 1978, the 
“CONTRACTOR” has not directly participated in the preparation of specifications, 
qualifications or evaluation criteria for this Agreement or any procurement related to this 
Agreement; and 
  5) in accordance with Section 10-16-3 and Section 10-16-13.3 NMSA 
1978, the “CONTRACTOR” has not contributed, and during the term of this Agreement 
shall not contribute, anything of value to a public officer or employee of the County. 
 
 C. “CONTRACTOR’s” representations and warranties in Paragraphs A and B 
of this Article 12 are material representations of fact upon which the County relied when 
this Agreement was entered into by the parties.  “CONTRACTOR” shall provide 
immediate written notice to the County if, at any time during the term of this Agreement, 
“CONTRACTOR” learns that “CONTRACTOR”’s representations and warranties in 
Paragraphs A and B of this Article 12 were erroneous on the effective date of this 
Agreement or have become erroneous by reason of new or changed circumstances. If it is 
later determined that “CONTRACTOR”’s representations and warranties in Paragraphs A 
and B of this Article 12 were erroneous on the effective date of this Agreement or have 
become erroneous by reason of new or changed circumstances, in addition to other 
remedies available to the County and notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the 
contrary, the County may immediately terminate the Agreement. 
 



 D. All terms defined in the Governmental Conduct Act have the same meaning 
in this Article 12(B). 
 
13. Amendment. 
 This Agreement shall not be altered, changed or amended except by instrument in 
writing executed by the parties hereto and all other required signatories. 
 
14. Merger. 
 This Agreement incorporates all the Agreements, covenants and understandings 
between the parties hereto concerning the subject matter hereof, and all such covenants, 
Agreements and understandings have been merged into this written Agreement.  No prior 
Agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, of the parties or their agents shall be valid 
or enforceable unless embodied in this Agreement. 
 
15. Penalties for violation of law. 
 The Procurement Code, Sections 13-1-28 through 13-1-199, NMSA 1978, imposes 
civil and criminal penalties for its violation.  In addition, the New Mexico criminal statutes 
impose felony penalties for illegal bribes, gratuities and kickbacks. 
 
16. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” agrees to abide by all federal, state and county laws and 
rules and regulations, pertaining to equal employment opportunity.  In accordance with all 
such laws, the “CONTRACTOR” assures that no person in the United States shall, on the 
grounds of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, physical or mental 
handicap, or serious medical condition, spousal affiliation, sexual orientation or gender 
identity, be excluded from employment with or participation in, be denied the benefits of, 
or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity performed under 
this Agreement.  If “CONTRACTOR” is found not to be in compliance with these 
requirements during the life of this Agreement, “CONTRACTOR” agrees to take 
appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies. 
 
17. Applicable Law. 
 In any action, suit or legal dispute arising from this Agreement, the 
“CONTRACTOR” agrees that the laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern and that 
venue will lie in the Seventh Judicial District Court in Sierra County. By execution of this 
Agreement, “CONTRACTOR” acknowledges and agrees to the jurisdiction of the courts 
of the State of New Mexico over any and all lawsuits arising under or out of any term of 
this Agreement. 
 
18. Workers Compensation. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” agrees to comply with state laws and rules applicable to 
workers compensation benefits for its employees. If the “CONTRACTOR” fails to comply 
with the Workers Compensation Act and applicable rules when required to do so, this 
Agreement may be terminated by the County. 
 
19. Records and Financial Audit. 



 The “CONTRACTOR” shall maintain detailed time and expenditure records that 
indicate the date; time, nature and cost of services rendered during the Agreement’s term 
and effect and retain them for a period of three (3) years from the date of final payment 
under this Agreement.  The records shall be subject to inspection by the County, the 
Department of Finance and Administration and the State Auditor.  The County shall have 
the right to audit billings both before and after payment.  Payment under this Agreement 
shall not foreclose the right of the County to recover excessive or illegal payments 
 
20. Disclaimer and Hold Harmless. 
 Sierra County shall not be liable to the “CONTRACTOR”, or the 
“CONTRACTOR”’s successors, heirs, administrators, or assigns, for any loss, damage, or 
injury, whether to “CONTRACTOR”'s person or property, occurring in connection with 
“CONTRACTOR”'s performance of “CONTRACTOR”'s duties according to this 
Agreement.  “CONTRACTOR” shall hold the Sierra County harmless from all loss, 
damage, and injury, including court costs and attorney fees, incurred by Sierra County in 
connection with the performance by “CONTRACTOR” of “CONTRACTOR”'s duties 
according to this Agreement. 
 
21. Indemnification. 
 The “CONTRACTOR” shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County of 
Sierra from all actions, proceeding, claims, demands, costs, damages, attorneys’ fees and 
all other liabilities and expenses of any kind from any source which may arise out of the 
performance of this Agreement, caused by the negligent act or failure to act of the 
“CONTRACTOR”, its officers, employees, servants, sub “CONTRACTOR”s or agents, or 
if caused by the actions of any client of the “CONTRACTOR” resulting in injury or 
damage to persons or property during the time when the “CONTRACTOR” or any officer, 
agent, employee, servant or sub “CONTRACTOR” thereof has or is performing services 
pursuant to this Agreement.  In the event that any action, suit or proceeding related to the 
services performed by the “CONTRACTOR” or any officer, agent, employee, servant or 
sub “CONTRACTOR” under this Agreement is brought against the “CONTRACTOR”, 
the “CONTRACTOR” shall, as soon as practicable but no later than two (2) days after it 
receives notice thereof, notify the legal counsel of the County of Sierra and the New 
Mexico Association of Counties by certified mail. 
 
22. Invalid Term or Condition. 
 If any term or condition of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected and shall be valid and enforceable. 
 
23. Enforcement of Agreement. 
 A party's failure to require strict performance of any provision of this Agreement 
shall not waive or diminish that party's right thereafter to demand strict compliance with 
that or any other provision.  No waiver by a party of any of its rights under this Agreement 
shall be effective unless express and in writing, and no effective waiver by a party of any 
of its rights shall be effective to waive any other rights. 
 
24. Authority. 



 If “CONTRACTOR” is other than a natural person, the individual(s) signing this 
Agreement on behalf of “CONTRACTOR” represents and warrants that he or she has the 
power and authority to bind “CONTRACTOR”, and that no further action, resolution, or 
approval from “CONTRACTOR” is necessary to enter into a binding contract.  
 
25.       Lobbying. 

No federal appropriated funds can be paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
“CONTRACTOR”, or any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any County, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal 
contract, or the making of any Federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering 
into of any cooperative agreement, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement.  If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid 
or will be paid to any person influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee 
of any County, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee 
of a Member of Congress in connection of this federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, the “CONTRACTOR” shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, 
“Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

 
26. Approval of “CONTRACTOR” Personnel. 

Personnel proposed in the “CONTRACTOR”'s written proposal to the County are 
considered material to any work performed under this Agreement. Replacement of any 
“CONTRACTOR” personnel shall be with personnel of equal ability, experience and 
qualifications.  The “CONTRACTOR” will be responsible for any expenses incurred in 
familiarizing the replacement personnel to insure their being productive to the project 
immediately upon receiving assignments.  Approval of replacement personnel shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The procuring agency of the County shall retain the right to request 
the removal of any of the “CONTRACTOR”'s personnel at any time.  

 
27. Survival. 

The agreement paragraphs titled “Patent, Copyright, Trademark, and Trade Secret 
Indemnification” and “Indemnification” shall survive the expiration of this agreement. 
Software licenses, leases, maintenance and any other unexpired agreements that were 
entered into under the terms and conditions of this agreement shall survive this agreement 

 
28. Succession. 

This agreement shall extend to and be binding upon the successors and assigns of 
the parties. 

 
29. Force Majeure. 

A party shall be excused from performance under this agreement for any period 
that the party is prevented from performing as a result of an act of God, strike, war, civil 
disturbance, epidemic, or court order, provided that the party has prudently and promptly 
acted to take any and all steps that are within the party's control to ensure performance.  
Subject to this provision, such non-performance shall not be deemed a default or a ground 
for termination. 



 
30. Mediation. 
 In the event a dispute arises as to the rights and obligations among the parties hereto, 
the parties agree to attempt to resolve the dispute through mediation as a condition 
precedent to seeking legal and equitable remedies.   The parties agree to evenly split the 
costs of any such mediation services.  The parties shall mutually agree upon the choice of 
mediator.  In the event the parties have not agreed upon a mediator within twenty (20) days 
of written notice to the other regarding the dispute, then a list of seven potential mediators 
will be obtained from the New Mexico Association of Counties and the parties shall utilize 
a striking process until a mediator is agreed upon. 
 
31. Notice to Proceed. 

It is expressly understood that this Agreement is not binding upon the County until 
it is executed by the Board of County Commissioners after voting on the contract at a public 
meeting. Further, the “CONTRACTOR” is not to proceed with its obligations under the 
Agreement until the “CONTRACTOR” has received a fully signed copy of the Agreement. 
 
32. Attorney’s Fees. 

In the event this Agreement results in dispute, mediation, litigation, or settlement 
between the parties to this Agreement, the prevailing party of such action shall NOT be 
entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and court costs. 
 
33. Cooperation. 

All parties hereto will fully cooperate with the other and their respective counsel, 
accountant, and agents in connection with any steps required to be taken under this 
Agreement. 
 
34. Incorporation and Order of Precedence. 

The “CONTRACTOR”'s proposal are incorporated by reference into this 
agreement and are made a part of this agreement. In the event of any conflict among these 
documents, the following order of precedence shall apply: 

 
1. Any contract amendment(s), in reverse chronological order; and, 
2. this contract itself. 

 
 
35. Patent, Copyright, Trademark and Trade Secret Indemnification. 
 

A. The “CONTRACTOR” shall defend, at its own expense, the County of 
Sierra against any claim that any product or service provided under this agreement infringes 
any patent, copyright or trademark in the United States or Puerto Rico, and shall pay all 
costs, damages and attorneys' fees that a court finally awards as a result of any such claim.  
In addition, if any third party obtains a judgment against the County of Sierra based upon 
the “CONTRACTOR”'s trade secret infringement relating to any product or service 
provided under this agreement, the “CONTRACTOR” agrees to reimburse the County of 



Sierra for all costs, attorneys' fees and the amount of the judgment.  To qualify for such 
defense and/or payment, the County of Sierra shall: 

 
i. give the “CONTRACTOR” prompt written notice of any claim; 
 
ii. allow the “CONTRACTOR” to control the defense or settlement of the 

claim; and 
 
iii. cooperate with the “CONTRACTOR” in a reasonable way to facilitate the 

defense or settlement of the claim. 
 
B. If any product or service becomes, or in the “CONTRACTOR”'s opinion is 

likely to become the subject of a claim of infringement, the “CONTRACTOR” shall at its 
option and expense:   

 
i.  provide a procuring agency of the County the right to continue using the 

product or service; 
 
ii. replace or modify the product or service so that it becomes non-infringing; 

or  
 
iii.  accept the return of the product or service and refund an amount equal to 

the depreciated value of the returned product or service, less the unpaid portion of the 
purchase price and any other amounts which are due to the “CONTRACTOR”.  The 
“CONTRACTOR”'s obligation will be void as to any product or service modified by the 
procuring agency of the County to the extent such modification is the cause of the claim. 
 
36. Professional Liability Insurance. 
 “CONTRACTOR” agrees to maintain in full force throughout the duration of the 
Agreement a liability insurance policy with a minimum coverage of: Comprehensive 
General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 General Aggregate; 
Professional liability- $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 General Aggregate.  
Occurrence type, if available; if not "Claims Made" type with a minimum of a six (6) 
year tail. The County will be named as an additional insured on said policy, and will be 
provided an updated certificate of insurance on an annual basis. 
 

 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF SIERRA 

 
37.  Notices. 
Any notice required to be given to either party by this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be delivered in person, by courier service or by U.S. mail, either first class or certified, 
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, as follows: 
 



To: County of Sierra 
  
Amber Vaughn, Chief Procurement Officer  
855 Van Patten 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
 
  
To the “CONTRACTOR”’s 
 
Printed Name:  
Lisa Daniel 
Executive Director 
The Olive Tree 
Address:  
808 Fir 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date 
executed by the Board of County Commissioners below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED on this 19th day of August, 2025. 



 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 Travis Day, Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice- Chair 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
_________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
Sierra County Chief Procurement Officer: 
 
By: ______________________________ Date: ___________________________ 
 
Amber Vaughn, CPO 
Sierra County 
 
 
 
 
  



CONTRACTOR 
 
 
By:                                                          Date:_________________________ 
 Lisa Daniel 
            Executive Director 

The Olive Tree 
808 Fir 
Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT 1 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES  
 

The CONTRACTOR shall perform the following work: 
 

• Oversee and implement the Sierra County Behavioral Health 
Investment Zones project 

• Ensure positive outcomes and compliance with grant(s) scope of work 
requirements. 

• Complete Data Collection information as required by SOW and provide 
them to Sierra County monthly tracking all services, develop and keep 
records of all services offered, the number of participants in each 
program, and the completion rate.   

• Maintain backup documentation through a general ledger or itemized 
receipts for expenditures. 

• Sub-contract with other health care providers including physicians, 
psychologists, psychiatrists, clinicians, therapists, group facilitators, 
Certified Peer Support Workers educators and other service providers as 
needed in order to complete the grant scope of work. 

• Bill the county monthly for services rendered under each component of 
the program ensuring all invoices are received, reviewed, and submitted 
to the county. 

• Complete grant reports, tracking hours and other data elements of the 
program. 

• Provide monthly reports on outcomes and program. 
• Write Procedures for implementing the program. 
• Work with grant evaluators, Core Team personnel and all BHSD 

personnel. 
• Work with the consultant, Core Team and Evaluation Team to evaluate 

and develop a quality improvement/quality assurance program, a 
sustainability plan, and look for other funding to provide sustainability. 

END 
 



 
NEW MEXICO CAPITAL OUTLAY GRANT AGREEMENT

CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT
 
THIS AGREEMENT  is made and entered into by and between the State of New Mexico, Department of
Finance & Administration, 407 Galisteo Street,    Santa Fe, NM 87501, (“Department”) and the Sierra
County, (“Grantee”) (individually “Party” and collectively “Parties”). This Agreement shall be effective as
of the date the Department executes it (“Effective Date”).
 

WITNESSETH
 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 507, Paragraph 33, the Legislature made an
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee
pursuant to this Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of
funds from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein,

the parties hereby mutually agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

I.        PROJECT DESCRIPTION, GRANT AMOUNT, AND REVERSION
 

A. 25-J3162 (“Project”) 6/30/2029 (“Reversion Date”). Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 507,
Paragraph 33,   Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and No Cents, $500,000.00, to plan, design,
construct, furnish and equip an emergency operations center in Sierra county;.
 

B. Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed $500,000.00 Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
and No Cents, (“Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP
amount”), if applicable, $5,000.00 Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents, which equals
$495,000.00 Four Hundred Ninety Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents (“Adjusted
Appropriation Amount”).
 

C. In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined
herein and/or the purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding
appropriation language in the laws cited above in this Article I, the language of the laws cited
herein shall control.

 
The information contained in Article I is referred to collectively as the “Project Description.”
 

II.           DISBURSEMENT LIMITATION 
 

A. Upon the Effective Date, the Grantee shall submit to the Department a comprehensive
procurement plan and expenditure plan, detailing a Project timeline with milestones, required
procurements, and identifying expected expenditures per milestone (collectively, “Project
Budget”). The Department shall review and approve the Project Budget by approving a Notice of
Department’s Obligation (“Notice of Obligation”), in accordance with the Project Description, a

Page 1 of 23



sample of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference. After
receipt of approved Notice of Obligation, the Grantee may be reimbursed for allowable costs up
to the Adjusted Appropriation Amount. This Agreement and any reimbursements up to the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following:

 

a. Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, Grantee’s expenditures shall be made in
accordance with the Project Budget, on or before the Reversion Date and/or, if applicable,
any Early Termination Date; and

b. The total amount received by Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of:
i. the Adjusted Appropriation Amount identified in Article I (B) herein; or
ii. the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of Obligation evidencing the

Department has received and accepted Grantee’s Third Party Obligation(s); and
c. Grantee’s expenditures are made and accounted for pursuant to the State Procurement

Code, State’s Model Accounting Practices, and execution of binding written obligations or
purchase orders with third-party contractors or vendors for the provision of services,
including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real
property for the Project (“Third Party Obligations”); and

d. Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment and supporting documentation in
accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement; and

e. In the event capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed
to or operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

i. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with §§
13-6-2, 13-6-2.1, and 13-6-3; or

ii. If no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department of
Finance and Administration’s Infrastructure Planning Development Division (IPDD)
must approve it as complying with the law.

 

B. Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)
(e) (i) or (ii) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, unless inconsistent
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse Grantee for necessary expenditures
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating
agreement commercially feasible, limited to planning and design expenditures; and

 

C. Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance of a Notice of
Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

 

a. Grantee is authorized to budget the particular amount set forth in the Notice of
Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation, and request the Third Party to begin work
after issuance of a Notice of Obligation by the Department.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any Third Party Obligations agreed to prior to
receiving a Notice of Obligation are its sole responsibility.

c. Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the
Third Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

d. Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue a Notice of Obligation for the
particular amount of a Third Party Obligation that only obligates the Department to

Page 2 of 23



reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an Early
Termination Date. The current Notice of Obligation form is incorporated herein and
attached hereto as Exhibit B.

 

D. Grantee shall provide all necessary qualified personnel, materials, and facilities to implement the
Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) of the costs of the Project, including all Project
overruns.

 

E. Prior to entering into this Agreement, the Department conducted a risk assessment on the
Grantee and a project readiness review for the Project. In accordance with State Model
Accounting Practices, FIN 9.2, if the Department determines that the expenditure of Project
funds by the Grantee requires special conditions, those conditions are identified and listed in
Exhibit C, which is attached and incorporated by reference. The Parties agree that, to the extent
the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines additional special conditions are
necessary or that existing special conditions are no longer required, it may update Exhibit C
from time to time without the need for a formal amendment of this Agreement. 

 

F. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those authorized by the Department in
accordance with the Project Description.

 

G. Project funds cannot be used to reimburse the Grantee for indirect Project costs unless
specifically allowed by law.

 

III.          NOTICES
 
The following provisions shall apply whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be
given or received related to this Agreement.
 

A. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official
representative(s) concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Amber Vaughn
Title:     County Manager
Address:   1712 N. Date St. Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    avaughn@sierraco.org
Telephone:  575-894-6215
 

B. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or
Fiscal Agent concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Jessica Pena
Title:     Finance Director
Address:   1712 N. Date St., Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    jpena@sierraco.org
Telephone:  575-894-6215

 

Page 3 of 23



C. The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of
Contact for matters related to this Agreement.
 
Department: DFA/Local Government Division
Name:    Melanie Viarrial
Title:     Grant Manager
Address:   Bataan Memorial Bldg. Rm 202, Santa Fe NM 87501
Email:    melanie.viarrial@dfa.nm.gov
Telephone:  505-690-1561

 
The Parties agree that all notices, including written decisions, related to this Agreement shall be sent to
the persons named above by email or regular mail. For mailings, notices shall be deemed to have been
given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five (5) calendar days after
mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be deemed to
have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of the email.
 
IV.         TERM  & DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS

 
A. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and terminate on the 30th day of

June during the calendar year of the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein (collectively “Term”).

 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, the
Early Termination Date of this Agreement.

 

a. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to encumber the
Project funds on its books on or before the Reversion Date or Early Termination Date.

b. For purposes of this Agreement, an expenditure of funds has occurred on the date the
particular quantity of goods is delivered to and received by the Grantee, title to the goods
is transferred to the Grantee, and/or as of the date particular services are rendered to
and accepted by the Grantee.

c. For purposes of this Agreement, an encumbrance of funds pursuant to a contract or
purchase order with a third party does not qualify as an expenditure.
 

V.          EARLY TERMINATION
 

A. General Provision. The Department may terminate this Agreement before the Reversion Date
based on the Completion of the Project, Complete Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation,
and/or Violation of this Agreement. Early Termination hereunder includes:

 

a. Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date;
b. Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before

the Reversion Date;
c. Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
d. Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to fraud,

waste, abuse, and conflicts of interest.
 

Page 4 of 23



B. Non-appropriation. This Agreement is expressly contingent upon the New Mexico State
Legislature making sufficient appropriations and authorizations for the Project Description. 
 

a. If the Legislature does not appropriate the Appropriation Amount, this Agreement shall
terminate upon the Department giving the Grantee written notice of such termination.
Such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation.

i. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or
authorizations are available shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to
assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of New Mexico in the
event of Early Termination of this Agreement.

b. As used herein, “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions
by the New Mexico Legislature:

i. Deauthorization, reauthorization, or revocation of a prior authorization.
 

C. Grant Disbursements in the Event of Early Termination. In the event of Early Termination, the
Department’s sole and absolute obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned
upon the limitations set forth in Article II above.
 

D. Notice. Either Party may terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by providing the
other Party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days advance written notice of the Early Termination.
Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of
New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department.

 
VI.         SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS

 
A. Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, may provide written notice to   Grantee to

suspend entering into further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the
Grantee:

 

a. Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with
third parties;

b. Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under
this Agreement; and

c. Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance
with Article VI (D) herein.

 

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein.

 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or
until the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the
Grantee that the Suspension has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in
accordance with Article V herein. If the Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further
requests for a Notice of Obligation.

 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension. Where the Department, in its sole and
absolute discretion, directs Grantee to suspend entering into new or further written obligations

Page 5 of 23



with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department may, but is not obligated to, require
the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to remedy the grounds
for the Suspension.

 

a. Such a corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be signed by the
Grantee.

b. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the
signed corrective action plan is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement
for purposes of Early Termination, Article V(A)(c).

c. A corrective action plan shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other equitable or
legal remedy authorized hereunder or at law, including but not limited to Early
Termination.

 

VII.       AMENDMENTS
 
Unless expressly stated otherwise herein, this Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended
except by an instrument in writing duly executed by both parties hereto with the same formalities as
this agreement.
 

VIII.       REPORTING
 
A. Database Reporting
 

a. Grantee shall provide the Department with quarterly reports of Project activity, entering
the required Project information directly into a database required by the Department. 

b. Additionally, Grantee shall certify on each Request for Payment form, attached hereto as
Exhibit A and incorporated herein, that all information provided in the database is true
and accurate, updates to the database have been maintained, and all Project activity
complies with applicable law and the terms of this Agreement.

c. Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates to the
database will jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee
a minimum of fourteen (14) days’ advance written notice of any changes to the
information the Grantee is required to report.

d. At the Department’s discretion, all reports required hereunder may be directed to and
facilitated through an electronic database. 

e. Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month, that is, 30 days prior to the
end of the quarter following the execution of this Agreement by the Department and
ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for reimbursement for
the Project, or the following quarter.

 
B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection

During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must
maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may:
 

i. request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
ii. conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the
Project.

Page 6 of 23



 

Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of
time, as established by the Department.

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
 

a. During the term of this Agreement and the Record Retention Period, the Department
may:

i. Request additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary and
ii. Conduct on-site inspections of the Project at reasonable times and upon

reasonable notice.
b. Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within the time

established by the Department.
 

IX.         REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 

A. Grantee shall request payment by submitting the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. Payment
requests are subject to the following procedures:

 

a. Each Request for Payment must be in accordance with the Project Budget and contain
proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by the Grantee.

i. Proof of payment must demonstrate the validity of an expenditure or liabilities
incurred by Grantee.

ii. However, Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the Department,
in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any
special conditions imposed by the Department.

iii. The Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5)
business days from the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or
in a shorter period than the Department may prescribe in writing.

iv. The Department reserves the right to make such payments directly to the
contractors or vendors as a special condition under this Agreement.

v. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof of payment to the third-
party contractor or vendor within five (5) business days from the date the
Department reimburses the Grantee.

 

B. Until the Project is fully planned, designed, and all necessary procurements identified in the
Project Budget are completed, Grantee’s reimbursements will be limited to the planning, design,
and procurement costs outlined in the Project Budget. Once the planning, designing, and
procuring stages are complete, the Grantee must obligate at least ten percent (10%) of the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount within one (1) year and must have utilized at least eighty-five
percent (85%) of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount six (6) months before the reversion date.

 

C. Deadlines. Grantee shall submit requests for Payments to the Department on the earlier of:
 

a. Immediately as Grantee receives them, but at a maximum of thirty (30) days from when
Grantee incurred the expenditure or liability; or

b. Twenty (20) days from the date of Early Termination or Reversion Date for expenditures
or liabilities incurred before the Early Termination date or Reversion Date.

Page 7 of 23



 

D. Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein may
result in the denial of its Request for Payment. Department reserves the right to reject a
payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the expenditures or liabilities
are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project Description, identified within the
Project Budget, and that the Grantee is otherwise in compliance with this Agreement.

 

a. Department’s authority to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu
of, any other legal or equitable remedy available to the Department under this
Agreement, at law, or in equity.

 

X.          PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS
 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions shall apply to the Project:
 

a. The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws,
regulations, policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement
Code.

b. The Project’s expenditures and liabilities must be accounted for in accordance with the
State’s Model Accounting Practices, as amended from time to time.

c. The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works
Minimum Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.

d. The Project must provide a public benefit above and beyond any incidental benefit to
private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but not limited to, Article IX,
Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico.

e. Without prior written approval from the Department and State Board of Finance, for the
useful life of any asset purchased under this Agreement, Grantee shall not convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or developed with Project funds
to uses other than those specified in the Project Description.

i. In addition to other remedies available at law or in equity, any disposal or
conversion of property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or
developed with Project funds without the Department’s and the Board of Finance’s
express written approval will trigger the Department’s right to reimbursement
from Grantee of the Appropriated Amount, transfer proceeds from any disposition
of property to the State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State for the
Appropriated Amounts.

f. Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations
pertaining to civil rights and equal employment opportunity.

i. In accordance with all such laws, rules, and regulations, the Grantee agrees to
assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age, or handicap, be excluded from participation in the Project,
use of the Project, employment with Grantee, or otherwise be denied
benefits/subject to discrimination for any activity performed under this
Agreement.

g. Where the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines Grantee has failed
to comply with the above conditions and restriction, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies immediately. The Grantee’s failure to implement such
appropriate steps within a reasonable time, but no longer than thirty (30) days after

Page 8 of 23



notice from the Department, constitutes a breach of this Agreement and grounds for
Early Termination.

 

XI.         REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

A. Reliance by Department.
a. Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Department relies on the representations and

warranties made by Grantee in this Agreement. Grantee acknowledges that such
representations and warranties are a material inducement for the Department to enter
into this Agreement and provide the Appropriated Amount.

b. Grantee shall ensure all representations and warranties provided herein are true,
accurate, and complete as of the date of the Effective Date and shall remain so
throughout the Term of this Agreement. Grantee is responsible for promptly notifying the
Department in writing of any changes or inaccuracies in the representations and
warranties contained herein.

 

B. Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
 

a. Grantee has taken all necessary steps to attain the legal authority to receive and expend
the Project’s funds.

b. Grantee has duly authorized this Agreement, and the person executing it has authority to
do so. Once executed by  Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation of
Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

c. Grantee’s obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law, ordinance, or resolution
applicable to Grantee, Grantee’s charter (if applicable), or any judgment or decree to
which Grantee is subject.

d. Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not
limited to, the Appropriated Amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying
appropriation in law.

e. Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution,
motion, or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of
the Grantee to sign and submit Requests for Payment on behalf of Grantee.

f. Grantee will abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct, and whistleblower protection.

i. Grantee agrees explicitly none of its officers or employees or its designees or
agents, no member of the governing body, and no other public official of Grantee
who exercises any function or responsibility with respect to this Agreement, shall
have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the
proceeds thereof, for the Project.

ii. Further, Grantee will require all of its contractors to incorporate the language set
forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of interest in all subcontracts.

g. No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of the State, any agency, or
body in connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation.

i. Grantee will require certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the
award documents for all subawards, including subcontracts, loans, and
cooperative agreements.
 

Page 9 of 23



C. Consequences of False or Misleading Representations. If any representation or warranty made
by Grantee is found to be false or misleading, the Department shall have the right to exercise
any or all of the following remedies:

 
a. Termination of Agreement: Department may terminate this Agreement immediately

upon written notice to the Grantee.
b. Repayment of Grant Funds: Grantee shall repay all Appropriated Amounts disbursed

under this Agreement, upon demand by the Department.
c. Other Remedies: Department may pursue any other remedies available at law or in

equity.
 

D. Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the
Grantee shall survive the Early Termination or expiration of this Agreement.

 

XII.       PROJECT RECORDS
 

A. Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s
funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles and the State’s Model
Accounting Practices and, if feasible, maintain a separate bank account or fund with a separate
organizational code to ensure separate budgeting and accounting of the funds.

 

B. For six (6) years following the Project’s completion (“Record Retention Period”), Grantee shall
maintain all Project-related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests
for proposals, invitations to bid, selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts,
advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well as records sufficient to fully account for
the amount and disposition of the Appropriated Amount from all sources budgeted for the
Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department
may prescribe.

 

C. Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department’s
Independent Public Accountant, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request. With respect to
the funds that are the subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department finds any
funds were improperly expended, Grantee shall be required to reimburse the State all amounts
found to be improperly expended.

XIII.       IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS
 
If the Department determines part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to
Grantee, including but not limited to funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement,
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, after ten (10) days’ notice to Grantee and
the opportunity to return such funds to the Department, the Department may offset any funds due to
Grantee from the State, until the Appropriation Amount is fully repaid. 
 

XIV.      LIABILITY
 
Neither Party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other Party’s acts or omissions
in connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to

Page 10 of 23



immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act.
 

XV.      SCOPE OF AGREEMENT
 
This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Parties concerning the
subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements,
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal.
 

XVI.      REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include a “non-appropriations” clause in all contracts
between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under
this Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states:

 

a. “The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and
authorization being made by the Legislature of the State of New Mexico (“Legislature”)
for the performance of this Agreement.

b. If the Legislature does not make sufficient appropriations and authorization, Sierra
County may immediately terminate this Agreement by giving Contractor written notice of
such termination.

c. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations are available shall be
final and accepted by the Contractor. Contractor hereby waives any rights to assert an
impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the State of New Mexico in the
event of immediate or Early Termination of this Agreement by the Sierra County or the
State Department of Finance and Administration.”

 

XVII.      REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE 
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include the following termination clause in all contracts
that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii)
entered into after the effective date of this Agreement:

 

a. “This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available by the State of New
Mexico (“State”). Should the State terminate its Agreement with the Sierra County, the
Sierra County may terminate this contract immediately by providing Contractor written
notice of such termination.

b. In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County’s only liability to
Contractor shall be for goods and services delivered and accepted prior to the
termination date.”

 

XVIII.       COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA
 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
 

a. Submit all reports of annual audits and agreed-upon procedures required by § 12-6-3(A)-
(B), NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in § 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a

Page 11 of 23



public record pursuant to § 12-6-5(A), NMSA 1978 within forty-five (45) days of delivery to
the State Auditor;

b. Have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary
oversight agency (if any);

c. Timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
d. Use accounting methods and procedures consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles and the State’s Model Accounting Principals to expend the Appropriated
Amount in accordance with applicable law and account for and safeguard Project funds
and assets acquired with Project funds.

 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of subparagraph A of this Article XVIII,
Department may take one or more of the following actions:

 

a. Suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
b. Require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant

to Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance;
c. Impose special conditions to address the non-compliance by giving   Grantee notice of

such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement;
i. The Parties agree that any special conditions imposed to address non-compliance

shall be incorporated into this Agreement, through Exhibit C, upon notice to
Grantee, without need for formal amendment of this Agreement; 

ii. Special conditions shall be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed
to have been given pursuant to Article III or

d. Terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.
 

XIX.      SEVERANCE TAX AND GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project may
originate from the issuance of tax-exempt severance tax bonds or general obligation bonds by
the State. Proceeds from such bonds are administered by the New Mexico State Board of
Finance (“SBOF”), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.

 

a. Grantee acknowledges and agrees:
i. It is Grantee’s responsibility to determine through SBOF what (if any) conditions

are currently imposed on the Project;
ii. Department’s failure to inform Grantee of an SBOF-imposed condition does not

affect the validity or enforceability of the condition;
iii. The SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the

Project;
iv. All SBOF conditions are attached to the Project and Appropriation Amount without

the need for formal amendment of this Agreement;
v. All applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the SBOF will release to the

Department funds subject to the condition(s) and
vi. The Department’s obligation to reimburse Grantee from the Project is expressly

contingent upon the satisfaction of the then-current SBOF conditions.
 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees SBOF may, at its sole and absolute discretion, require
reimbursement or remove eligibility for bond proceeds for the Project if the Project doesn’t

Page 12 of 23



proceed sufficiently.
 

a. Grantee must comply with the requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project
funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by Grantee in the Bond
Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF.

b. Failure to comply may result in the reassignment of the bond proceeds. Upon
reassignment of bond proceeds, this Agreement will be suspended until the entity has
demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.
 

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project
Disbursements rule, § 2.61.6, NMAC, as may be amended from time to time or re-codified.
 

XX.      GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

A. Assignment: Grantee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are personal and may not be
transferred or assigned without the prior written consent of the State. Any attempt at
assignment or transfer without such consent shall be void. Any assignment or transfer of
Grantee’s rights and obligations approved by the State shall be subject to the provisions of this
Agreement.
 

B. Subcontractors: Grantee shall not enter any subgrant or subcontract in connection with its
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the State. Upon request,
Grantee shall submit to the Department a copy of each such subgrant or subcontract.

 
C. Binding Effect: Except as otherwise provided, all provisions of this Agreement, including the

benefits and burdens, shall extend to and be binding upon the Parties’ respective successors and
assigns.

 
D. Authority: Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and delivery of this

Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations have been duly authorized.
 

E. Captions and References: The captions and headings in this Agreement are for the convenience
of reference only and shall not be used to interpret, define, or limit its provisions. All references
in this Agreement to sections (whether spelled out or using the § symbol), subsections, exhibits,
or other attachments are references to sections, subsections, exhibits, or other attachments
contained herein or incorporated as a part hereof, unless otherwise noted.

 
F. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in multiple, identical, original counterparts, each

of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute the
same agreement.

 
G. Digital Signatures: If any signatory signs this agreement using a digital signature in accordance

with the State Policies regarding the use of digital signatures, then any agreement or consent to
use digital signatures within the electronic system through which that signatory signed shall be
incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

 
H. Modification: Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any modification to this

Agreement shall only be effective if agreed to in a formal amendment, properly executed and
approved in accordance with applicable New Mexico law and State fiscal policies and rules.

Page 13 of 23



Modifications permitted under this Agreement, other than Agreement amendments, shall
conform to the policies issued by the State.

 
I. Statutes, Regulations, Fiscal Rules, and Other Authority: Any reference in this Agreement to a

statute, regulation, policy, or other authority shall be interpreted to refer to such authority then
current, as may have been changed or amended after the Effective Date of this Agreement.

 
J. External Terms and Conditions: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the State shall

not be subject to any provision included in any terms, conditions, or agreements appearing on
Grantee’s or a subcontractor’s website or any provision incorporated into any click-through or
online agreements related to the Work unless that provision is specifically referenced in this
Agreement.

 
K. Severability: The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect

the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full
force and effect, provided that the Parties can continue to perform their obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with its intent.
 

L. Survival of Certain Agreement Terms: Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation
on a Party after the termination or expiration of this Agreement shall survive the termination or
expiration of this Agreement and shall be enforceable by the other Party.
 

M. Third Party Beneficiaries: Except for the Parties’ respective successors and assigns described in
this Agreement, it does not and is not intended to confer any rights or remedies upon any
person or entity other than the Parties. Enforcement of this Agreement and all rights and
obligations hereunder are reserved solely to the Parties. Any services or benefits that third
parties receive as a result of this Agreement are incidental to this Agreement and do not create
any rights for such third parties.
 

N. Waiver: A Party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege under this
Agreement, whether explicit or by lack of enforcement, shall not operate as a waiver, nor shall
any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege preclude any other or further
exercise of such right, power, or privilege.
 

O. Standard and Manner of Performance: Grantee shall perform its obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with the highest standards of care, skill, and diligence in Grantee’s
industry, trade, or profession.
 

P. Licenses, Permits, and Other Authorizations: Grantee shall secure, prior to the Effective Date,
and maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement, at its sole expense, all licenses,
certifications, permits, and other authorizations required to perform its obligations under this
Agreement and shall ensure that all employees, agents, and subcontractors secure and maintain
at all times during the term of their employment, agency or subcontractor, all license,
certifications, permits and other authorizations required to perform their obligations in relation
to this Agreement.
 

Q. Publicity: Any Publicity regarding the subject matter of this Agreement may not be released
without prior written approval from the Department. For purposes of this agreement, “Publicity”

Page 14 of 23



means notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, email responses, research, reports,
signs, and similar public notices prepared by or for the Grantee or jointly with others.
 

a. Grantee shall obtain written approval prior to issuing any press release or making any
public announcement regarding this agreement. Grantee agrees to obtain approval of the
Department in advance with respect to all Public Relations, all communications with
media, or all communications with any other member of the public with respect to this
agreement, except to acknowledge that an agreement does exist.

b. For purposes of this agreement, “Public Relations” includes community relations and
means those activities dedicated to maintaining the Department's image or maintaining
or promoting understanding and favorable relations with the community or public at
large or any segment of the public.

c. Violations of either Article XX (Q)(a) or (b) shall constitute a material Breach of Agreement.
 

R. Data Sharing: The State intends to secure and collate specific data generated by Grantee under
this Agreement to use in support of the State’s organizational, policy-making, and management
of public resource functions. State, in accordance with Exhibit E, attached hereto and
incorporated herein by reference, reserves the right to require Grantee and/or its subcontractors
to provide specific data relevant to the above-listed functions. Data provided by Grantee may be
incorporated into existing or future developed State integrated analysis tools or databases,
including but not limited to geographic information system (GIS) networks and databases
accessible by the public. Dissemination of data collected may include historical data and
projections based on such historical data.
 

a. To the extent any data transferred as part of this Agreement is legally determined to be
the property of Subrecipient or its subcontractors, Subrecipient and/or its subcontractors
grants State a nonexclusive, fully paid-up right and license to reproduce, use, distribute,
do derivative works based on, and archive data transferred as part of this Agreement.
 

S. Venue and Choice of Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of New Mexico, without regard to any conflict of law provisions. Any
legal suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be instituted
exclusively in the district courts located in Santa Fe, New Mexico. The Parties hereby irrevocably
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts in any such suit, action, or
proceeding. The Parties waive any objection to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action, or
proceeding in the district courts of Santa Fe, New Mexico, and irrevocably waive and agree not to
plead or claim in any such court that any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND EXHIBITS FOLLOW]
[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 15 of 23



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the Department's date of
execution.
 
 
APPROVED BY DEPARTMENT:

 

Cabinet Secretary, Wayne Propst:
 
 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Mackie Romero:   

 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

Local Government Division Director, Cecilia Mavrommatis:

 

___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

 

 

 

AS TO LEGAL FORM AND SUFFICIENCY

 

General Counsel’s Office: 

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
 
 

Page 16 of 23



APPROVED BY GRANTEE:
 
 
___________________________________________
Entity Name
 
 
Official with Authority to Bind Grantee:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
Fiscal Officer or Chief Financial Officer:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
 
As To Legal Form And Sufficiency

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 

Page 17 of 23



EXHIBIT A
Request for Payment Form and Certification

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 18 of 23



EXHIBIT B
Notice of Department’s Obligation Form

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 19 of 23



EXHIBIT C
Special Conditions (If Fiscal Agent Required or Anti Donations Issues Exist)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 20 of 23



EXHIBIT D

Project Budget Worksheet *
*(Provided separately when grant agreement issued to Grantee)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 21 of 23



EXHIBIT E
Data Sharing Provisions

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 22 of 23



 

Page 23 of 23



 
NEW MEXICO CAPITAL OUTLAY GRANT AGREEMENT

CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT
 
THIS AGREEMENT  is made and entered into by and between the State of New Mexico, Department of
Finance & Administration, 407 Galisteo Street,    Santa Fe, NM 87501, (“Department”) and the Sierra
County, (“Grantee”) (individually “Party” and collectively “Parties”). This Agreement shall be effective as
of the date the Department executes it (“Effective Date”).
 

WITNESSETH
 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 508, Paragraph 33, the Legislature made an
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee
pursuant to this Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of
funds from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein,

the parties hereby mutually agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

I.        PROJECT DESCRIPTION, GRANT AMOUNT, AND REVERSION
 

A. 25-J3163 (“Project”) 6/30/2029 (“Reversion Date”). Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 508,
Paragraph 33,   One Hundred Thousand Dollars and No Cents, $100,000.00, to plan, design,
construct, renovate and equip the fairgrounds in Sierra county;.
 

B. Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed $100,000.00 One Hundred Thousand Dollars
and No Cents, (“Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP
amount”), if applicable, $0.00 No Dollars and No Cents, which equals $100,000.00 One Hundred
Thousand Dollars and No Cents (“Adjusted Appropriation Amount”).
 

C. In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined
herein and/or the purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding
appropriation language in the laws cited above in this Article I, the language of the laws cited
herein shall control.

 
The information contained in Article I is referred to collectively as the “Project Description.”
 

II.           DISBURSEMENT LIMITATION 
 

A. Upon the Effective Date, the Grantee shall submit to the Department a comprehensive
procurement plan and expenditure plan, detailing a Project timeline with milestones, required
procurements, and identifying expected expenditures per milestone (collectively, “Project
Budget”). The Department shall review and approve the Project Budget by approving a Notice of
Department’s Obligation (“Notice of Obligation”), in accordance with the Project Description, a
sample of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference. After

Page 1 of 23



receipt of approved Notice of Obligation, the Grantee may be reimbursed for allowable costs up
to the Adjusted Appropriation Amount. This Agreement and any reimbursements up to the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following:

 

a. Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, Grantee’s expenditures shall be made in
accordance with the Project Budget, on or before the Reversion Date and/or, if applicable,
any Early Termination Date; and

b. The total amount received by Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of:
i. the Adjusted Appropriation Amount identified in Article I (B) herein; or
ii. the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of Obligation evidencing the

Department has received and accepted Grantee’s Third Party Obligation(s); and
c. Grantee’s expenditures are made and accounted for pursuant to the State Procurement

Code, State’s Model Accounting Practices, and execution of binding written obligations or
purchase orders with third-party contractors or vendors for the provision of services,
including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real
property for the Project (“Third Party Obligations”); and

d. Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment and supporting documentation in
accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement; and

e. In the event capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed
to or operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

i. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with §§
13-6-2, 13-6-2.1, and 13-6-3; or

ii. If no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department of
Finance and Administration’s Infrastructure Planning Development Division (IPDD)
must approve it as complying with the law.

 

B. Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)
(e) (i) or (ii) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, unless inconsistent
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse Grantee for necessary expenditures
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating
agreement commercially feasible, limited to planning and design expenditures; and

 

C. Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance of a Notice of
Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

 

a. Grantee is authorized to budget the particular amount set forth in the Notice of
Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation, and request the Third Party to begin work
after issuance of a Notice of Obligation by the Department.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any Third Party Obligations agreed to prior to
receiving a Notice of Obligation are its sole responsibility.

c. Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the
Third Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

d. Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue a Notice of Obligation for the
particular amount of a Third Party Obligation that only obligates the Department to
reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an Early

Page 2 of 23



Termination Date. The current Notice of Obligation form is incorporated herein and
attached hereto as Exhibit B.

 

D. Grantee shall provide all necessary qualified personnel, materials, and facilities to implement the
Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) of the costs of the Project, including all Project
overruns.

 

E. Prior to entering into this Agreement, the Department conducted a risk assessment on the
Grantee and a project readiness review for the Project. In accordance with State Model
Accounting Practices, FIN 9.2, if the Department determines that the expenditure of Project
funds by the Grantee requires special conditions, those conditions are identified and listed in
Exhibit C, which is attached and incorporated by reference. The Parties agree that, to the extent
the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines additional special conditions are
necessary or that existing special conditions are no longer required, it may update Exhibit C
from time to time without the need for a formal amendment of this Agreement. 

 

F. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those authorized by the Department in
accordance with the Project Description.

 

G. Project funds cannot be used to reimburse the Grantee for indirect Project costs unless
specifically allowed by law.

 

III.          NOTICES
 
The following provisions shall apply whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be
given or received related to this Agreement.
 

A. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official
representative(s) concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Amber Vaughn
Title:     County Manager
Address:   1712 N. Date St. Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    avaughn@sierraco.org
Telephone:  575-894-6215
 

B. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or
Fiscal Agent concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Jessica Pena
Title:     Finance Director
Address:   1712 N. Date St., Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    jpena@sierraco.org
Telephone:  575-894-6215

 

Page 3 of 23



C. The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of
Contact for matters related to this Agreement.
 
Department: DFA/Local Government Division
Name:    Melanie Viarrial
Title:     Grant Manager
Address:   Bataan Memorial Bldg. Rm 202, Santa Fe NM 87501
Email:    melanie.viarrial@dfa.nm.gov
Telephone:  505-690-1561

 
The Parties agree that all notices, including written decisions, related to this Agreement shall be sent to
the persons named above by email or regular mail. For mailings, notices shall be deemed to have been
given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five (5) calendar days after
mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be deemed to
have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of the email.
 
IV.         TERM  & DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS

 
A. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and terminate on the 30th day of

June during the calendar year of the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein (collectively “Term”).

 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, the
Early Termination Date of this Agreement.

 

a. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to encumber the
Project funds on its books on or before the Reversion Date or Early Termination Date.

b. For purposes of this Agreement, an expenditure of funds has occurred on the date the
particular quantity of goods is delivered to and received by the Grantee, title to the goods
is transferred to the Grantee, and/or as of the date particular services are rendered to
and accepted by the Grantee.

c. For purposes of this Agreement, an encumbrance of funds pursuant to a contract or
purchase order with a third party does not qualify as an expenditure.
 

V.          EARLY TERMINATION
 

A. General Provision. The Department may terminate this Agreement before the Reversion Date
based on the Completion of the Project, Complete Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation,
and/or Violation of this Agreement. Early Termination hereunder includes:

 

a. Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date;
b. Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before

the Reversion Date;
c. Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
d. Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to fraud,

waste, abuse, and conflicts of interest.
 

Page 4 of 23



B. Non-appropriation. This Agreement is expressly contingent upon the New Mexico State
Legislature making sufficient appropriations and authorizations for the Project Description. 
 

a. If the Legislature does not appropriate the Appropriation Amount, this Agreement shall
terminate upon the Department giving the Grantee written notice of such termination.
Such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation.

i. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or
authorizations are available shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to
assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of New Mexico in the
event of Early Termination of this Agreement.

b. As used herein, “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions
by the New Mexico Legislature:

i. Deauthorization, reauthorization, or revocation of a prior authorization.
 

C. Grant Disbursements in the Event of Early Termination. In the event of Early Termination, the
Department’s sole and absolute obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned
upon the limitations set forth in Article II above.
 

D. Notice. Either Party may terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by providing the
other Party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days advance written notice of the Early Termination.
Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of
New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department.

 
VI.         SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS

 
A. Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, may provide written notice to   Grantee to

suspend entering into further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the
Grantee:

 

a. Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with
third parties;

b. Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under
this Agreement; and

c. Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance
with Article VI (D) herein.

 

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein.

 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or
until the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the
Grantee that the Suspension has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in
accordance with Article V herein. If the Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further
requests for a Notice of Obligation.

 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension. Where the Department, in its sole and
absolute discretion, directs Grantee to suspend entering into new or further written obligations

Page 5 of 23



with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department may, but is not obligated to, require
the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to remedy the grounds
for the Suspension.

 

a. Such a corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be signed by the
Grantee.

b. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the
signed corrective action plan is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement
for purposes of Early Termination, Article V(A)(c).

c. A corrective action plan shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other equitable or
legal remedy authorized hereunder or at law, including but not limited to Early
Termination.

 

VII.       AMENDMENTS
 
Unless expressly stated otherwise herein, this Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended
except by an instrument in writing duly executed by both parties hereto with the same formalities as
this agreement.
 

VIII.       REPORTING
 
A. Database Reporting
 

a. Grantee shall provide the Department with quarterly reports of Project activity, entering
the required Project information directly into a database required by the Department. 

b. Additionally, Grantee shall certify on each Request for Payment form, attached hereto as
Exhibit A and incorporated herein, that all information provided in the database is true
and accurate, updates to the database have been maintained, and all Project activity
complies with applicable law and the terms of this Agreement.

c. Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates to the
database will jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee
a minimum of fourteen (14) days’ advance written notice of any changes to the
information the Grantee is required to report.

d. At the Department’s discretion, all reports required hereunder may be directed to and
facilitated through an electronic database. 

e. Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month, that is, 30 days prior to the
end of the quarter following the execution of this Agreement by the Department and
ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for reimbursement for
the Project, or the following quarter.

 
B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection

During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must
maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may:
 

i. request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
ii. conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the
Project.

Page 6 of 23



 

Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of
time, as established by the Department.

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
 

a. During the term of this Agreement and the Record Retention Period, the Department
may:

i. Request additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary and
ii. Conduct on-site inspections of the Project at reasonable times and upon

reasonable notice.
b. Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within the time

established by the Department.
 

IX.         REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 

A. Grantee shall request payment by submitting the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. Payment
requests are subject to the following procedures:

 

a. Each Request for Payment must be in accordance with the Project Budget and contain
proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by the Grantee.

i. Proof of payment must demonstrate the validity of an expenditure or liabilities
incurred by Grantee.

ii. However, Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the Department,
in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any
special conditions imposed by the Department.

iii. The Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5)
business days from the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or
in a shorter period than the Department may prescribe in writing.

iv. The Department reserves the right to make such payments directly to the
contractors or vendors as a special condition under this Agreement.

v. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof of payment to the third-
party contractor or vendor within five (5) business days from the date the
Department reimburses the Grantee.

 

B. Until the Project is fully planned, designed, and all necessary procurements identified in the
Project Budget are completed, Grantee’s reimbursements will be limited to the planning, design,
and procurement costs outlined in the Project Budget. Once the planning, designing, and
procuring stages are complete, the Grantee must obligate at least ten percent (10%) of the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount within one (1) year and must have utilized at least eighty-five
percent (85%) of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount six (6) months before the reversion date.

 

C. Deadlines. Grantee shall submit requests for Payments to the Department on the earlier of:
 

a. Immediately as Grantee receives them, but at a maximum of thirty (30) days from when
Grantee incurred the expenditure or liability; or

b. Twenty (20) days from the date of Early Termination or Reversion Date for expenditures
or liabilities incurred before the Early Termination date or Reversion Date.

Page 7 of 23



 

D. Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein may
result in the denial of its Request for Payment. Department reserves the right to reject a
payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the expenditures or liabilities
are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project Description, identified within the
Project Budget, and that the Grantee is otherwise in compliance with this Agreement.

 

a. Department’s authority to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu
of, any other legal or equitable remedy available to the Department under this
Agreement, at law, or in equity.

 

X.          PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS
 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions shall apply to the Project:
 

a. The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws,
regulations, policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement
Code.

b. The Project’s expenditures and liabilities must be accounted for in accordance with the
State’s Model Accounting Practices, as amended from time to time.

c. The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works
Minimum Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.

d. The Project must provide a public benefit above and beyond any incidental benefit to
private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but not limited to, Article IX,
Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico.

e. Without prior written approval from the Department and State Board of Finance, for the
useful life of any asset purchased under this Agreement, Grantee shall not convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or developed with Project funds
to uses other than those specified in the Project Description.

i. In addition to other remedies available at law or in equity, any disposal or
conversion of property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or
developed with Project funds without the Department’s and the Board of Finance’s
express written approval will trigger the Department’s right to reimbursement
from Grantee of the Appropriated Amount, transfer proceeds from any disposition
of property to the State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State for the
Appropriated Amounts.

f. Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations
pertaining to civil rights and equal employment opportunity.

i. In accordance with all such laws, rules, and regulations, the Grantee agrees to
assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age, or handicap, be excluded from participation in the Project,
use of the Project, employment with Grantee, or otherwise be denied
benefits/subject to discrimination for any activity performed under this
Agreement.

g. Where the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines Grantee has failed
to comply with the above conditions and restriction, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies immediately. The Grantee’s failure to implement such
appropriate steps within a reasonable time, but no longer than thirty (30) days after

Page 8 of 23



notice from the Department, constitutes a breach of this Agreement and grounds for
Early Termination.

 

XI.         REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

A. Reliance by Department.
a. Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Department relies on the representations and

warranties made by Grantee in this Agreement. Grantee acknowledges that such
representations and warranties are a material inducement for the Department to enter
into this Agreement and provide the Appropriated Amount.

b. Grantee shall ensure all representations and warranties provided herein are true,
accurate, and complete as of the date of the Effective Date and shall remain so
throughout the Term of this Agreement. Grantee is responsible for promptly notifying the
Department in writing of any changes or inaccuracies in the representations and
warranties contained herein.

 

B. Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
 

a. Grantee has taken all necessary steps to attain the legal authority to receive and expend
the Project’s funds.

b. Grantee has duly authorized this Agreement, and the person executing it has authority to
do so. Once executed by  Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation of
Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

c. Grantee’s obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law, ordinance, or resolution
applicable to Grantee, Grantee’s charter (if applicable), or any judgment or decree to
which Grantee is subject.

d. Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not
limited to, the Appropriated Amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying
appropriation in law.

e. Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution,
motion, or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of
the Grantee to sign and submit Requests for Payment on behalf of Grantee.

f. Grantee will abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct, and whistleblower protection.

i. Grantee agrees explicitly none of its officers or employees or its designees or
agents, no member of the governing body, and no other public official of Grantee
who exercises any function or responsibility with respect to this Agreement, shall
have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the
proceeds thereof, for the Project.

ii. Further, Grantee will require all of its contractors to incorporate the language set
forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of interest in all subcontracts.

g. No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of the State, any agency, or
body in connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation.

i. Grantee will require certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the
award documents for all subawards, including subcontracts, loans, and
cooperative agreements.
 

Page 9 of 23



C. Consequences of False or Misleading Representations. If any representation or warranty made
by Grantee is found to be false or misleading, the Department shall have the right to exercise
any or all of the following remedies:

 
a. Termination of Agreement: Department may terminate this Agreement immediately

upon written notice to the Grantee.
b. Repayment of Grant Funds: Grantee shall repay all Appropriated Amounts disbursed

under this Agreement, upon demand by the Department.
c. Other Remedies: Department may pursue any other remedies available at law or in

equity.
 

D. Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the
Grantee shall survive the Early Termination or expiration of this Agreement.

 

XII.       PROJECT RECORDS
 

A. Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s
funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles and the State’s Model
Accounting Practices and, if feasible, maintain a separate bank account or fund with a separate
organizational code to ensure separate budgeting and accounting of the funds.

 

B. For six (6) years following the Project’s completion (“Record Retention Period”), Grantee shall
maintain all Project-related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests
for proposals, invitations to bid, selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts,
advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well as records sufficient to fully account for
the amount and disposition of the Appropriated Amount from all sources budgeted for the
Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department
may prescribe.

 

C. Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department’s
Independent Public Accountant, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request. With respect to
the funds that are the subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department finds any
funds were improperly expended, Grantee shall be required to reimburse the State all amounts
found to be improperly expended.

XIII.       IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS
 
If the Department determines part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to
Grantee, including but not limited to funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement,
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, after ten (10) days’ notice to Grantee and
the opportunity to return such funds to the Department, the Department may offset any funds due to
Grantee from the State, until the Appropriation Amount is fully repaid. 
 

XIV.      LIABILITY
 
Neither Party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other Party’s acts or omissions
in connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to

Page 10 of 23



immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act.
 

XV.      SCOPE OF AGREEMENT
 
This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Parties concerning the
subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements,
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal.
 

XVI.      REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include a “non-appropriations” clause in all contracts
between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under
this Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states:

 

a. “The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and
authorization being made by the Legislature of the State of New Mexico (“Legislature”)
for the performance of this Agreement.

b. If the Legislature does not make sufficient appropriations and authorization, Sierra
County may immediately terminate this Agreement by giving Contractor written notice of
such termination.

c. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations are available shall be
final and accepted by the Contractor. Contractor hereby waives any rights to assert an
impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the State of New Mexico in the
event of immediate or Early Termination of this Agreement by the Sierra County or the
State Department of Finance and Administration.”

 

XVII.      REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE 
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include the following termination clause in all contracts
that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii)
entered into after the effective date of this Agreement:

 

a. “This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available by the State of New
Mexico (“State”). Should the State terminate its Agreement with the Sierra County, the
Sierra County may terminate this contract immediately by providing Contractor written
notice of such termination.

b. In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County’s only liability to
Contractor shall be for goods and services delivered and accepted prior to the
termination date.”

 

XVIII.       COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA
 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
 

a. Submit all reports of annual audits and agreed-upon procedures required by § 12-6-3(A)-
(B), NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in § 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a

Page 11 of 23



public record pursuant to § 12-6-5(A), NMSA 1978 within forty-five (45) days of delivery to
the State Auditor;

b. Have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary
oversight agency (if any);

c. Timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
d. Use accounting methods and procedures consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles and the State’s Model Accounting Principals to expend the Appropriated
Amount in accordance with applicable law and account for and safeguard Project funds
and assets acquired with Project funds.

 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of subparagraph A of this Article XVIII,
Department may take one or more of the following actions:

 

a. Suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
b. Require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant

to Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance;
c. Impose special conditions to address the non-compliance by giving   Grantee notice of

such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement;
i. The Parties agree that any special conditions imposed to address non-compliance

shall be incorporated into this Agreement, through Exhibit C, upon notice to
Grantee, without need for formal amendment of this Agreement; 

ii. Special conditions shall be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed
to have been given pursuant to Article III or

d. Terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.
 

XIX.      SEVERANCE TAX AND GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project may
originate from the issuance of tax-exempt severance tax bonds or general obligation bonds by
the State. Proceeds from such bonds are administered by the New Mexico State Board of
Finance (“SBOF”), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.

 

a. Grantee acknowledges and agrees:
i. It is Grantee’s responsibility to determine through SBOF what (if any) conditions

are currently imposed on the Project;
ii. Department’s failure to inform Grantee of an SBOF-imposed condition does not

affect the validity or enforceability of the condition;
iii. The SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the

Project;
iv. All SBOF conditions are attached to the Project and Appropriation Amount without

the need for formal amendment of this Agreement;
v. All applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the SBOF will release to the

Department funds subject to the condition(s) and
vi. The Department’s obligation to reimburse Grantee from the Project is expressly

contingent upon the satisfaction of the then-current SBOF conditions.
 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees SBOF may, at its sole and absolute discretion, require
reimbursement or remove eligibility for bond proceeds for the Project if the Project doesn’t

Page 12 of 23



proceed sufficiently.
 

a. Grantee must comply with the requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project
funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by Grantee in the Bond
Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF.

b. Failure to comply may result in the reassignment of the bond proceeds. Upon
reassignment of bond proceeds, this Agreement will be suspended until the entity has
demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.
 

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project
Disbursements rule, § 2.61.6, NMAC, as may be amended from time to time or re-codified.
 

XX.      GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

A. Assignment: Grantee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are personal and may not be
transferred or assigned without the prior written consent of the State. Any attempt at
assignment or transfer without such consent shall be void. Any assignment or transfer of
Grantee’s rights and obligations approved by the State shall be subject to the provisions of this
Agreement.
 

B. Subcontractors: Grantee shall not enter any subgrant or subcontract in connection with its
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the State. Upon request,
Grantee shall submit to the Department a copy of each such subgrant or subcontract.

 
C. Binding Effect: Except as otherwise provided, all provisions of this Agreement, including the

benefits and burdens, shall extend to and be binding upon the Parties’ respective successors and
assigns.

 
D. Authority: Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and delivery of this

Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations have been duly authorized.
 

E. Captions and References: The captions and headings in this Agreement are for the convenience
of reference only and shall not be used to interpret, define, or limit its provisions. All references
in this Agreement to sections (whether spelled out or using the § symbol), subsections, exhibits,
or other attachments are references to sections, subsections, exhibits, or other attachments
contained herein or incorporated as a part hereof, unless otherwise noted.

 
F. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in multiple, identical, original counterparts, each

of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute the
same agreement.

 
G. Digital Signatures: If any signatory signs this agreement using a digital signature in accordance

with the State Policies regarding the use of digital signatures, then any agreement or consent to
use digital signatures within the electronic system through which that signatory signed shall be
incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

 
H. Modification: Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any modification to this

Agreement shall only be effective if agreed to in a formal amendment, properly executed and
approved in accordance with applicable New Mexico law and State fiscal policies and rules.

Page 13 of 23



Modifications permitted under this Agreement, other than Agreement amendments, shall
conform to the policies issued by the State.

 
I. Statutes, Regulations, Fiscal Rules, and Other Authority: Any reference in this Agreement to a

statute, regulation, policy, or other authority shall be interpreted to refer to such authority then
current, as may have been changed or amended after the Effective Date of this Agreement.

 
J. External Terms and Conditions: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the State shall

not be subject to any provision included in any terms, conditions, or agreements appearing on
Grantee’s or a subcontractor’s website or any provision incorporated into any click-through or
online agreements related to the Work unless that provision is specifically referenced in this
Agreement.

 
K. Severability: The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect

the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full
force and effect, provided that the Parties can continue to perform their obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with its intent.
 

L. Survival of Certain Agreement Terms: Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation
on a Party after the termination or expiration of this Agreement shall survive the termination or
expiration of this Agreement and shall be enforceable by the other Party.
 

M. Third Party Beneficiaries: Except for the Parties’ respective successors and assigns described in
this Agreement, it does not and is not intended to confer any rights or remedies upon any
person or entity other than the Parties. Enforcement of this Agreement and all rights and
obligations hereunder are reserved solely to the Parties. Any services or benefits that third
parties receive as a result of this Agreement are incidental to this Agreement and do not create
any rights for such third parties.
 

N. Waiver: A Party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege under this
Agreement, whether explicit or by lack of enforcement, shall not operate as a waiver, nor shall
any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege preclude any other or further
exercise of such right, power, or privilege.
 

O. Standard and Manner of Performance: Grantee shall perform its obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with the highest standards of care, skill, and diligence in Grantee’s
industry, trade, or profession.
 

P. Licenses, Permits, and Other Authorizations: Grantee shall secure, prior to the Effective Date,
and maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement, at its sole expense, all licenses,
certifications, permits, and other authorizations required to perform its obligations under this
Agreement and shall ensure that all employees, agents, and subcontractors secure and maintain
at all times during the term of their employment, agency or subcontractor, all license,
certifications, permits and other authorizations required to perform their obligations in relation
to this Agreement.
 

Q. Publicity: Any Publicity regarding the subject matter of this Agreement may not be released
without prior written approval from the Department. For purposes of this agreement, “Publicity”

Page 14 of 23



means notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, email responses, research, reports,
signs, and similar public notices prepared by or for the Grantee or jointly with others.
 

a. Grantee shall obtain written approval prior to issuing any press release or making any
public announcement regarding this agreement. Grantee agrees to obtain approval of the
Department in advance with respect to all Public Relations, all communications with
media, or all communications with any other member of the public with respect to this
agreement, except to acknowledge that an agreement does exist.

b. For purposes of this agreement, “Public Relations” includes community relations and
means those activities dedicated to maintaining the Department's image or maintaining
or promoting understanding and favorable relations with the community or public at
large or any segment of the public.

c. Violations of either Article XX (Q)(a) or (b) shall constitute a material Breach of Agreement.
 

R. Data Sharing: The State intends to secure and collate specific data generated by Grantee under
this Agreement to use in support of the State’s organizational, policy-making, and management
of public resource functions. State, in accordance with Exhibit E, attached hereto and
incorporated herein by reference, reserves the right to require Grantee and/or its subcontractors
to provide specific data relevant to the above-listed functions. Data provided by Grantee may be
incorporated into existing or future developed State integrated analysis tools or databases,
including but not limited to geographic information system (GIS) networks and databases
accessible by the public. Dissemination of data collected may include historical data and
projections based on such historical data.
 

a. To the extent any data transferred as part of this Agreement is legally determined to be
the property of Subrecipient or its subcontractors, Subrecipient and/or its subcontractors
grants State a nonexclusive, fully paid-up right and license to reproduce, use, distribute,
do derivative works based on, and archive data transferred as part of this Agreement.
 

S. Venue and Choice of Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of New Mexico, without regard to any conflict of law provisions. Any
legal suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be instituted
exclusively in the district courts located in Santa Fe, New Mexico. The Parties hereby irrevocably
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts in any such suit, action, or
proceeding. The Parties waive any objection to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action, or
proceeding in the district courts of Santa Fe, New Mexico, and irrevocably waive and agree not to
plead or claim in any such court that any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND EXHIBITS FOLLOW]
[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 15 of 23



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the Department's date of
execution.
 
 
APPROVED BY DEPARTMENT:

 

Cabinet Secretary, Wayne Propst:
 
 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Mackie Romero:   

 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

Local Government Division Director, Cecilia Mavrommatis:

 

___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

 

 

 

AS TO LEGAL FORM AND SUFFICIENCY

 

General Counsel’s Office: 

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
 
 

Page 16 of 23



APPROVED BY GRANTEE:
 
 
___________________________________________
Entity Name
 
 
Official with Authority to Bind Grantee:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
Fiscal Officer or Chief Financial Officer:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
 
As To Legal Form And Sufficiency

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 

Page 17 of 23



EXHIBIT A
Request for Payment Form and Certification

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 18 of 23



EXHIBIT B
Notice of Department’s Obligation Form

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 19 of 23



EXHIBIT C
Special Conditions (If Fiscal Agent Required or Anti Donations Issues Exist)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 20 of 23



EXHIBIT D

Project Budget Worksheet *
*(Provided separately when grant agreement issued to Grantee)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 21 of 23



EXHIBIT E
Data Sharing Provisions

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 22 of 23



 

Page 23 of 23



 
NEW MEXICO CAPITAL OUTLAY GRANT AGREEMENT

CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT
 
THIS AGREEMENT  is made and entered into by and between the State of New Mexico, Department of
Finance & Administration, 407 Galisteo Street,    Santa Fe, NM 87501, (“Department”) and the Sierra
County, (“Grantee”) (individually “Party” and collectively “Parties”). This Agreement shall be effective as
of the date the Department executes it (“Effective Date”).
 

WITNESSETH
 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 510, Paragraph 33, the Legislature made an
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee
pursuant to this Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of
funds from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein,

the parties hereby mutually agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

I.        PROJECT DESCRIPTION, GRANT AMOUNT, AND REVERSION
 

A. 25-J3165 (“Project”) 6/30/2029 (“Reversion Date”). Laws of 2025, Chapter 159, Section 510,
Paragraph 33,  One Hundred Seventy Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents, $175,000.00, to plan,
design, construct, renovate, furnish and equip the Hillsboro community center, including kitchen
equipment, in Hillsboro in Sierra county;.
 

B. Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed $175,000.00 One Hundred Seventy Five
Thousand Dollars and No Cents, (“Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public
Places (“AIPP amount”), if applicable, $1,750.00 One Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars and
No Cents, which equals $173,250.00 One Hundred Seventy Three Thousand Two Hundred Fifty
Dollars and No Cents (“Adjusted Appropriation Amount”).
 

C. In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined
herein and/or the purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding
appropriation language in the laws cited above in this Article I, the language of the laws cited
herein shall control.

 
The information contained in Article I is referred to collectively as the “Project Description.”
 

II.           DISBURSEMENT LIMITATION 
 

A. Upon the Effective Date, the Grantee shall submit to the Department a comprehensive
procurement plan and expenditure plan, detailing a Project timeline with milestones, required
procurements, and identifying expected expenditures per milestone (collectively, “Project
Budget”). The Department shall review and approve the Project Budget by approving a Notice of

Page 1 of 23



Department’s Obligation (“Notice of Obligation”), in accordance with the Project Description, a
sample of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference. After
receipt of approved Notice of Obligation, the Grantee may be reimbursed for allowable costs up
to the Adjusted Appropriation Amount. This Agreement and any reimbursements up to the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following:

 

a. Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, Grantee’s expenditures shall be made in
accordance with the Project Budget, on or before the Reversion Date and/or, if applicable,
any Early Termination Date; and

b. The total amount received by Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of:
i. the Adjusted Appropriation Amount identified in Article I (B) herein; or
ii. the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of Obligation evidencing the

Department has received and accepted Grantee’s Third Party Obligation(s); and
c. Grantee’s expenditures are made and accounted for pursuant to the State Procurement

Code, State’s Model Accounting Practices, and execution of binding written obligations or
purchase orders with third-party contractors or vendors for the provision of services,
including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real
property for the Project (“Third Party Obligations”); and

d. Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment and supporting documentation in
accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement; and

e. In the event capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed
to or operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

i. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with §§
13-6-2, 13-6-2.1, and 13-6-3; or

ii. If no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department of
Finance and Administration’s Infrastructure Planning Development Division (IPDD)
must approve it as complying with the law.

 

B. Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)
(e) (i) or (ii) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, unless inconsistent
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse Grantee for necessary expenditures
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating
agreement commercially feasible, limited to planning and design expenditures; and

 

C. Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance of a Notice of
Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

 

a. Grantee is authorized to budget the particular amount set forth in the Notice of
Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation, and request the Third Party to begin work
after issuance of a Notice of Obligation by the Department.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any Third Party Obligations agreed to prior to
receiving a Notice of Obligation are its sole responsibility.

c. Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the
Third Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

Page 2 of 23



d. Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue a Notice of Obligation for the
particular amount of a Third Party Obligation that only obligates the Department to
reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an Early
Termination Date. The current Notice of Obligation form is incorporated herein and
attached hereto as Exhibit B.

 

D. Grantee shall provide all necessary qualified personnel, materials, and facilities to implement the
Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) of the costs of the Project, including all Project
overruns.

 

E. Prior to entering into this Agreement, the Department conducted a risk assessment on the
Grantee and a project readiness review for the Project. In accordance with State Model
Accounting Practices, FIN 9.2, if the Department determines that the expenditure of Project
funds by the Grantee requires special conditions, those conditions are identified and listed in
Exhibit C, which is attached and incorporated by reference. The Parties agree that, to the extent
the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines additional special conditions are
necessary or that existing special conditions are no longer required, it may update Exhibit C
from time to time without the need for a formal amendment of this Agreement. 

 

F. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those authorized by the Department in
accordance with the Project Description.

 

G. Project funds cannot be used to reimburse the Grantee for indirect Project costs unless
specifically allowed by law.

 

III.          NOTICES
 
The following provisions shall apply whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be
given or received related to this Agreement.
 

A. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official
representative(s) concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Amber Vaughn
Title:     County Manager
Address:   1712 N. Date St. Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    avaughn@sierraco.org
Telephone:  575-894-6215
 

B. The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or
Fiscal Agent concerning all matters related to this Agreement:
 
Grantee:  Sierra County
Name:    Jessica Pena
Title:     Finance Director
Address:   1712 N. Date St., Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:    jpena@sierraco.org

Page 3 of 23



Telephone:  575-894-6215
 

C. The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of
Contact for matters related to this Agreement.
 
Department: DFA/Local Government Division
Name:    Melanie Viarrial
Title:     Grant Manager
Address:   Bataan Memorial Bldg. Rm 202, Santa Fe NM 87501
Email:    melanie.viarrial@dfa.nm.gov
Telephone:  505-690-1561

 
The Parties agree that all notices, including written decisions, related to this Agreement shall be sent to
the persons named above by email or regular mail. For mailings, notices shall be deemed to have been
given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five (5) calendar days after
mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be deemed to
have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of the email.
 
IV.         TERM  & DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS

 
A. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and terminate on the 30th day of

June during the calendar year of the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein (collectively “Term”).

 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, the
Early Termination Date of this Agreement.

 

a. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to encumber the
Project funds on its books on or before the Reversion Date or Early Termination Date.

b. For purposes of this Agreement, an expenditure of funds has occurred on the date the
particular quantity of goods is delivered to and received by the Grantee, title to the goods
is transferred to the Grantee, and/or as of the date particular services are rendered to
and accepted by the Grantee.

c. For purposes of this Agreement, an encumbrance of funds pursuant to a contract or
purchase order with a third party does not qualify as an expenditure.
 

V.          EARLY TERMINATION
 

A. General Provision. The Department may terminate this Agreement before the Reversion Date
based on the Completion of the Project, Complete Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation,
and/or Violation of this Agreement. Early Termination hereunder includes:

 

a. Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date;
b. Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before

the Reversion Date;
c. Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
d. Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to fraud,

waste, abuse, and conflicts of interest.
 

Page 4 of 23



B. Non-appropriation. This Agreement is expressly contingent upon the New Mexico State
Legislature making sufficient appropriations and authorizations for the Project Description. 
 

a. If the Legislature does not appropriate the Appropriation Amount, this Agreement shall
terminate upon the Department giving the Grantee written notice of such termination.
Such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation.

i. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or
authorizations are available shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to
assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of New Mexico in the
event of Early Termination of this Agreement.

b. As used herein, “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions
by the New Mexico Legislature:

i. Deauthorization, reauthorization, or revocation of a prior authorization.
 

C. Grant Disbursements in the Event of Early Termination. In the event of Early Termination, the
Department’s sole and absolute obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned
upon the limitations set forth in Article II above.
 

D. Notice. Either Party may terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by providing the
other Party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days advance written notice of the Early Termination.
Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the State of
New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department.

 
VI.         SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS

 
A. Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, may provide written notice to   Grantee to

suspend entering into further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the
Grantee:

 

a. Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with
third parties;

b. Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under
this Agreement; and

c. Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance
with Article VI (D) herein.

 

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein.

 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or
until the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the
Grantee that the Suspension has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in
accordance with Article V herein. If the Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further
requests for a Notice of Obligation.

 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension. Where the Department, in its sole and
absolute discretion, directs Grantee to suspend entering into new or further written obligations

Page 5 of 23



with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department may, but is not obligated to, require
the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to remedy the grounds
for the Suspension.

 

a. Such a corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be signed by the
Grantee.

b. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the
signed corrective action plan is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement
for purposes of Early Termination, Article V(A)(c).

c. A corrective action plan shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other equitable or
legal remedy authorized hereunder or at law, including but not limited to Early
Termination.

 

VII.       AMENDMENTS
 
Unless expressly stated otherwise herein, this Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended
except by an instrument in writing duly executed by both parties hereto with the same formalities as
this agreement.
 

VIII.       REPORTING
 
A. Database Reporting
 

a. Grantee shall provide the Department with quarterly reports of Project activity, entering
the required Project information directly into a database required by the Department. 

b. Additionally, Grantee shall certify on each Request for Payment form, attached hereto as
Exhibit A and incorporated herein, that all information provided in the database is true
and accurate, updates to the database have been maintained, and all Project activity
complies with applicable law and the terms of this Agreement.

c. Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates to the
database will jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee
a minimum of fourteen (14) days’ advance written notice of any changes to the
information the Grantee is required to report.

d. At the Department’s discretion, all reports required hereunder may be directed to and
facilitated through an electronic database. 

e. Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month, that is, 30 days prior to the
end of the quarter following the execution of this Agreement by the Department and
ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for reimbursement for
the Project, or the following quarter.

 
B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection

During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must
maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may:
 

i. request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
ii. conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the
Project.

Page 6 of 23



 

Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of
time, as established by the Department.

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
 

a. During the term of this Agreement and the Record Retention Period, the Department
may:

i. Request additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary and
ii. Conduct on-site inspections of the Project at reasonable times and upon

reasonable notice.
b. Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within the time

established by the Department.
 

IX.         REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 

A. Grantee shall request payment by submitting the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. Payment
requests are subject to the following procedures:

 

a. Each Request for Payment must be in accordance with the Project Budget and contain
proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by the Grantee.

i. Proof of payment must demonstrate the validity of an expenditure or liabilities
incurred by Grantee.

ii. However, Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the Department,
in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any
special conditions imposed by the Department.

iii. The Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5)
business days from the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or
in a shorter period than the Department may prescribe in writing.

iv. The Department reserves the right to make such payments directly to the
contractors or vendors as a special condition under this Agreement.

v. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof of payment to the third-
party contractor or vendor within five (5) business days from the date the
Department reimburses the Grantee.

 

B. Until the Project is fully planned, designed, and all necessary procurements identified in the
Project Budget are completed, Grantee’s reimbursements will be limited to the planning, design,
and procurement costs outlined in the Project Budget. Once the planning, designing, and
procuring stages are complete, the Grantee must obligate at least ten percent (10%) of the
Adjusted Appropriation Amount within one (1) year and must have utilized at least eighty-five
percent (85%) of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount six (6) months before the reversion date.

 

C. Deadlines. Grantee shall submit requests for Payments to the Department on the earlier of:
 

a. Immediately as Grantee receives them, but at a maximum of thirty (30) days from when
Grantee incurred the expenditure or liability; or

b. Twenty (20) days from the date of Early Termination or Reversion Date for expenditures
or liabilities incurred before the Early Termination date or Reversion Date.

Page 7 of 23



 

D. Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein may
result in the denial of its Request for Payment. Department reserves the right to reject a
payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the expenditures or liabilities
are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project Description, identified within the
Project Budget, and that the Grantee is otherwise in compliance with this Agreement.

 

a. Department’s authority to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu
of, any other legal or equitable remedy available to the Department under this
Agreement, at law, or in equity.

 

X.          PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS
 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions shall apply to the Project:
 

a. The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws,
regulations, policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement
Code.

b. The Project’s expenditures and liabilities must be accounted for in accordance with the
State’s Model Accounting Practices, as amended from time to time.

c. The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works
Minimum Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.

d. The Project must provide a public benefit above and beyond any incidental benefit to
private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but not limited to, Article IX,
Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico.

e. Without prior written approval from the Department and State Board of Finance, for the
useful life of any asset purchased under this Agreement, Grantee shall not convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or developed with Project funds
to uses other than those specified in the Project Description.

i. In addition to other remedies available at law or in equity, any disposal or
conversion of property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed, or
developed with Project funds without the Department’s and the Board of Finance’s
express written approval will trigger the Department’s right to reimbursement
from Grantee of the Appropriated Amount, transfer proceeds from any disposition
of property to the State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State for the
Appropriated Amounts.

f. Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations
pertaining to civil rights and equal employment opportunity.

i. In accordance with all such laws, rules, and regulations, the Grantee agrees to
assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age, or handicap, be excluded from participation in the Project,
use of the Project, employment with Grantee, or otherwise be denied
benefits/subject to discrimination for any activity performed under this
Agreement.

g. Where the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines Grantee has failed
to comply with the above conditions and restriction, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies immediately. The Grantee’s failure to implement such
appropriate steps within a reasonable time, but no longer than thirty (30) days after

Page 8 of 23



notice from the Department, constitutes a breach of this Agreement and grounds for
Early Termination.

 

XI.         REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

A. Reliance by Department.
a. Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Department relies on the representations and

warranties made by Grantee in this Agreement. Grantee acknowledges that such
representations and warranties are a material inducement for the Department to enter
into this Agreement and provide the Appropriated Amount.

b. Grantee shall ensure all representations and warranties provided herein are true,
accurate, and complete as of the date of the Effective Date and shall remain so
throughout the Term of this Agreement. Grantee is responsible for promptly notifying the
Department in writing of any changes or inaccuracies in the representations and
warranties contained herein.

 

B. Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
 

a. Grantee has taken all necessary steps to attain the legal authority to receive and expend
the Project’s funds.

b. Grantee has duly authorized this Agreement, and the person executing it has authority to
do so. Once executed by  Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation of
Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

c. Grantee’s obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law, ordinance, or resolution
applicable to Grantee, Grantee’s charter (if applicable), or any judgment or decree to
which Grantee is subject.

d. Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not
limited to, the Appropriated Amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying
appropriation in law.

e. Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution,
motion, or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of
the Grantee to sign and submit Requests for Payment on behalf of Grantee.

f. Grantee will abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct, and whistleblower protection.

i. Grantee agrees explicitly none of its officers or employees or its designees or
agents, no member of the governing body, and no other public official of Grantee
who exercises any function or responsibility with respect to this Agreement, shall
have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the
proceeds thereof, for the Project.

ii. Further, Grantee will require all of its contractors to incorporate the language set
forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of interest in all subcontracts.

g. No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of the State, any agency, or
body in connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation.

i. Grantee will require certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the
award documents for all subawards, including subcontracts, loans, and
cooperative agreements.
 

Page 9 of 23



C. Consequences of False or Misleading Representations. If any representation or warranty made
by Grantee is found to be false or misleading, the Department shall have the right to exercise
any or all of the following remedies:

 
a. Termination of Agreement: Department may terminate this Agreement immediately

upon written notice to the Grantee.
b. Repayment of Grant Funds: Grantee shall repay all Appropriated Amounts disbursed

under this Agreement, upon demand by the Department.
c. Other Remedies: Department may pursue any other remedies available at law or in

equity.
 

D. Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the
Grantee shall survive the Early Termination or expiration of this Agreement.

 

XII.       PROJECT RECORDS
 

A. Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s
funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles and the State’s Model
Accounting Practices and, if feasible, maintain a separate bank account or fund with a separate
organizational code to ensure separate budgeting and accounting of the funds.

 

B. For six (6) years following the Project’s completion (“Record Retention Period”), Grantee shall
maintain all Project-related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests
for proposals, invitations to bid, selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts,
advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well as records sufficient to fully account for
the amount and disposition of the Appropriated Amount from all sources budgeted for the
Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department
may prescribe.

 

C. Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department’s
Independent Public Accountant, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request. With respect to
the funds that are the subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department finds any
funds were improperly expended, Grantee shall be required to reimburse the State all amounts
found to be improperly expended.

XIII.       IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS
 
If the Department determines part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to
Grantee, including but not limited to funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement,
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, after ten (10) days’ notice to Grantee and
the opportunity to return such funds to the Department, the Department may offset any funds due to
Grantee from the State, until the Appropriation Amount is fully repaid. 
 

XIV.      LIABILITY
 
Neither Party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other Party’s acts or omissions
in connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to

Page 10 of 23



immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act.
 

XV.      SCOPE OF AGREEMENT
 
This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Parties concerning the
subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements,
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal.
 

XVI.      REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include a “non-appropriations” clause in all contracts
between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under
this Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states:

 

a. “The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and
authorization being made by the Legislature of the State of New Mexico (“Legislature”)
for the performance of this Agreement.

b. If the Legislature does not make sufficient appropriations and authorization, Sierra
County may immediately terminate this Agreement by giving Contractor written notice of
such termination.

c. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations are available shall be
final and accepted by the Contractor. Contractor hereby waives any rights to assert an
impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the State of New Mexico in the
event of immediate or Early Termination of this Agreement by the Sierra County or the
State Department of Finance and Administration.”

 

XVII.      REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE 
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees to include the following termination clause in all contracts
that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii)
entered into after the effective date of this Agreement:

 

a. “This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available by the State of New
Mexico (“State”). Should the State terminate its Agreement with the Sierra County, the
Sierra County may terminate this contract immediately by providing Contractor written
notice of such termination.

b. In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County’s only liability to
Contractor shall be for goods and services delivered and accepted prior to the
termination date.”

 

XVIII.       COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA
 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
 

a. Submit all reports of annual audits and agreed-upon procedures required by § 12-6-3(A)-
(B), NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in § 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a

Page 11 of 23



public record pursuant to § 12-6-5(A), NMSA 1978 within forty-five (45) days of delivery to
the State Auditor;

b. Have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary
oversight agency (if any);

c. Timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
d. Use accounting methods and procedures consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles and the State’s Model Accounting Principals to expend the Appropriated
Amount in accordance with applicable law and account for and safeguard Project funds
and assets acquired with Project funds.

 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of subparagraph A of this Article XVIII,
Department may take one or more of the following actions:

 

a. Suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
b. Require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant

to Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance;
c. Impose special conditions to address the non-compliance by giving   Grantee notice of

such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement;
i. The Parties agree that any special conditions imposed to address non-compliance

shall be incorporated into this Agreement, through Exhibit C, upon notice to
Grantee, without need for formal amendment of this Agreement; 

ii. Special conditions shall be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed
to have been given pursuant to Article III or

d. Terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.
 

XIX.      SEVERANCE TAX AND GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project may
originate from the issuance of tax-exempt severance tax bonds or general obligation bonds by
the State. Proceeds from such bonds are administered by the New Mexico State Board of
Finance (“SBOF”), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.

 

a. Grantee acknowledges and agrees:
i. It is Grantee’s responsibility to determine through SBOF what (if any) conditions

are currently imposed on the Project;
ii. Department’s failure to inform Grantee of an SBOF-imposed condition does not

affect the validity or enforceability of the condition;
iii. The SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the

Project;
iv. All SBOF conditions are attached to the Project and Appropriation Amount without

the need for formal amendment of this Agreement;
v. All applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the SBOF will release to the

Department funds subject to the condition(s) and
vi. The Department’s obligation to reimburse Grantee from the Project is expressly

contingent upon the satisfaction of the then-current SBOF conditions.
 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees SBOF may, at its sole and absolute discretion, require
reimbursement or remove eligibility for bond proceeds for the Project if the Project doesn’t

Page 12 of 23



proceed sufficiently.
 

a. Grantee must comply with the requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project
funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by Grantee in the Bond
Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF.

b. Failure to comply may result in the reassignment of the bond proceeds. Upon
reassignment of bond proceeds, this Agreement will be suspended until the entity has
demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.
 

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project
Disbursements rule, § 2.61.6, NMAC, as may be amended from time to time or re-codified.
 

XX.      GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

A. Assignment: Grantee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are personal and may not be
transferred or assigned without the prior written consent of the State. Any attempt at
assignment or transfer without such consent shall be void. Any assignment or transfer of
Grantee’s rights and obligations approved by the State shall be subject to the provisions of this
Agreement.
 

B. Subcontractors: Grantee shall not enter any subgrant or subcontract in connection with its
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the State. Upon request,
Grantee shall submit to the Department a copy of each such subgrant or subcontract.

 
C. Binding Effect: Except as otherwise provided, all provisions of this Agreement, including the

benefits and burdens, shall extend to and be binding upon the Parties’ respective successors and
assigns.

 
D. Authority: Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and delivery of this

Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations have been duly authorized.
 

E. Captions and References: The captions and headings in this Agreement are for the convenience
of reference only and shall not be used to interpret, define, or limit its provisions. All references
in this Agreement to sections (whether spelled out or using the § symbol), subsections, exhibits,
or other attachments are references to sections, subsections, exhibits, or other attachments
contained herein or incorporated as a part hereof, unless otherwise noted.

 
F. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in multiple, identical, original counterparts, each

of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute the
same agreement.

 
G. Digital Signatures: If any signatory signs this agreement using a digital signature in accordance

with the State Policies regarding the use of digital signatures, then any agreement or consent to
use digital signatures within the electronic system through which that signatory signed shall be
incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

 
H. Modification: Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any modification to this

Agreement shall only be effective if agreed to in a formal amendment, properly executed and
approved in accordance with applicable New Mexico law and State fiscal policies and rules.

Page 13 of 23



Modifications permitted under this Agreement, other than Agreement amendments, shall
conform to the policies issued by the State.

 
I. Statutes, Regulations, Fiscal Rules, and Other Authority: Any reference in this Agreement to a

statute, regulation, policy, or other authority shall be interpreted to refer to such authority then
current, as may have been changed or amended after the Effective Date of this Agreement.

 
J. External Terms and Conditions: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the State shall

not be subject to any provision included in any terms, conditions, or agreements appearing on
Grantee’s or a subcontractor’s website or any provision incorporated into any click-through or
online agreements related to the Work unless that provision is specifically referenced in this
Agreement.

 
K. Severability: The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect

the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full
force and effect, provided that the Parties can continue to perform their obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with its intent.
 

L. Survival of Certain Agreement Terms: Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation
on a Party after the termination or expiration of this Agreement shall survive the termination or
expiration of this Agreement and shall be enforceable by the other Party.
 

M. Third Party Beneficiaries: Except for the Parties’ respective successors and assigns described in
this Agreement, it does not and is not intended to confer any rights or remedies upon any
person or entity other than the Parties. Enforcement of this Agreement and all rights and
obligations hereunder are reserved solely to the Parties. Any services or benefits that third
parties receive as a result of this Agreement are incidental to this Agreement and do not create
any rights for such third parties.
 

N. Waiver: A Party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege under this
Agreement, whether explicit or by lack of enforcement, shall not operate as a waiver, nor shall
any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege preclude any other or further
exercise of such right, power, or privilege.
 

O. Standard and Manner of Performance: Grantee shall perform its obligations under this
Agreement in accordance with the highest standards of care, skill, and diligence in Grantee’s
industry, trade, or profession.
 

P. Licenses, Permits, and Other Authorizations: Grantee shall secure, prior to the Effective Date,
and maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement, at its sole expense, all licenses,
certifications, permits, and other authorizations required to perform its obligations under this
Agreement and shall ensure that all employees, agents, and subcontractors secure and maintain
at all times during the term of their employment, agency or subcontractor, all license,
certifications, permits and other authorizations required to perform their obligations in relation
to this Agreement.
 

Q. Publicity: Any Publicity regarding the subject matter of this Agreement may not be released
without prior written approval from the Department. For purposes of this agreement, “Publicity”

Page 14 of 23



means notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, email responses, research, reports,
signs, and similar public notices prepared by or for the Grantee or jointly with others.
 

a. Grantee shall obtain written approval prior to issuing any press release or making any
public announcement regarding this agreement. Grantee agrees to obtain approval of the
Department in advance with respect to all Public Relations, all communications with
media, or all communications with any other member of the public with respect to this
agreement, except to acknowledge that an agreement does exist.

b. For purposes of this agreement, “Public Relations” includes community relations and
means those activities dedicated to maintaining the Department's image or maintaining
or promoting understanding and favorable relations with the community or public at
large or any segment of the public.

c. Violations of either Article XX (Q)(a) or (b) shall constitute a material Breach of Agreement.
 

R. Data Sharing: The State intends to secure and collate specific data generated by Grantee under
this Agreement to use in support of the State’s organizational, policy-making, and management
of public resource functions. State, in accordance with Exhibit E, attached hereto and
incorporated herein by reference, reserves the right to require Grantee and/or its subcontractors
to provide specific data relevant to the above-listed functions. Data provided by Grantee may be
incorporated into existing or future developed State integrated analysis tools or databases,
including but not limited to geographic information system (GIS) networks and databases
accessible by the public. Dissemination of data collected may include historical data and
projections based on such historical data.
 

a. To the extent any data transferred as part of this Agreement is legally determined to be
the property of Subrecipient or its subcontractors, Subrecipient and/or its subcontractors
grants State a nonexclusive, fully paid-up right and license to reproduce, use, distribute,
do derivative works based on, and archive data transferred as part of this Agreement.
 

S. Venue and Choice of Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of New Mexico, without regard to any conflict of law provisions. Any
legal suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be instituted
exclusively in the district courts located in Santa Fe, New Mexico. The Parties hereby irrevocably
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts in any such suit, action, or
proceeding. The Parties waive any objection to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action, or
proceeding in the district courts of Santa Fe, New Mexico, and irrevocably waive and agree not to
plead or claim in any such court that any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND EXHIBITS FOLLOW]
[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 15 of 23



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the Department's date of
execution.
 
 
APPROVED BY DEPARTMENT:

 

Cabinet Secretary, Wayne Propst:
 
 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Mackie Romero:   

 
___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

Local Government Division Director, Cecilia Mavrommatis:

 

___________________________________________    __________________________________
Signature                Date
 

 

 

 

AS TO LEGAL FORM AND SUFFICIENCY

 

General Counsel’s Office: 

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
 
 

Page 16 of 23



APPROVED BY GRANTEE:
 
 
___________________________________________
Entity Name
 
 
Official with Authority to Bind Grantee:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
Fiscal Officer or Chief Financial Officer:
 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 
 
 
 
As To Legal Form And Sufficiency

 
___________________________________________
Signature
 
 
________________________________________     ______________________________________
(Print Name)              (Title)
 
____________________________________________
Date 

Page 17 of 23



EXHIBIT A
Request for Payment Form and Certification

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 18 of 23



EXHIBIT B
Notice of Department’s Obligation Form

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 19 of 23



EXHIBIT C
Special Conditions (If Fiscal Agent Required or Anti Donations Issues Exist)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 20 of 23



EXHIBIT D

Project Budget Worksheet *
*(Provided separately when grant agreement issued to Grantee)

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 21 of 23



EXHIBIT E
Data Sharing Provisions

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Page 22 of 23



 

Page 23 of 23



1 
 

COST OF CARE AGREEMENT 
 

This Cost of Care Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ______ day 
of______________, 2025, by and between the County of Bernalillo, New Mexico, a political 
subdivision of the State of New Mexico (hereinafter “County”), and the County of _Sierra County__, 
a political subdivision of the State of New Mexico (hereinafter “Contractor”). 

 
WHEREAS, the County owns and operates the Bernalillo County Youth Services Center 

(hereinafter "Facility") to house juvenile offenders; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Contractor has a need to secure a confinement area for juveniles arrested 

and/or detained pursuant to lawful process (hereinafter "Detainees"); and 
 
WHEREAS, state law provides that a local, state, federal or tribal entity may contribute a 

reasonable amount to a county to defray the cost of maintaining said detainees; 
  
NOW THEREFORE, be it mutually resolved and agreed to by and between the County and 

Contractor that: 
 

1. Upon request from the Contractor to house its Detainees, the County may provide bed space 
in its Facility, space permitting and as determined in the sole discretion of the Facility Director. 
 
2.  A “Detainee” for purposes of this Agreement is defined as a person under the age of eighteen 
under the purview of the children's court who is arrested or detained under process of law to secure 
detention by a court or official of competent jurisdiction.  

 
3.  In consideration for housing said Detainees, Contractor shall pay the County the sum of Four 
Hundred and Seventy-Five ($475.00) dollars per Detainee housed at the Facility per day or any 
fraction thereof.  A day is defined as any time from 12:01 a.m. to 12:00 a.m.  

 
 4. Contactor authorizes the County or its designee to submit billings to all applicable third-party 
payors, including but not limited to Medicaid, and to collect and retain all payments resulting from 
such billings for any and all medical, mental health, dental care, and pharmaceuticals provided to each 
Detainee while housed at the Facility.  In addition to the amount set forth in paragraph 3 above, 
Contractor shall also reimburse the County for all necessary medical, mental health, dental and/or 
pharmaceutical expenses incurred by, or on behalf of, each Detainee, arising out of injuries, illnesses 
or other medical, mental health or dental conditions of, or to, each Detainee that is not covered or 
reimbursed by any third party payor. 
 
5. Contractor shall be responsible for any and all required transportation of each Detainee with 
the exception of emergency medical transports. 
 
6. All amounts due from Contractor shall be paid by the Contractor to the County within thirty 
(30) calendar days of the date of billing.  Any amount(s) not paid within forty-five (45) calendar days 
of the date of billing shall be subject to interest at the rate of one and one-half percent ((1.5%) per 
month for all unpaid balance(s).  Any bill remaining unpaid for two (2) months may result, as 



2 
 

determined in the sole discretion of the Facility Director, in the County returning Detainee(s) to the 
Contractor. 
 
7. It is mutually agreed that the Facility Director or the Director’s designee retains the right to 

refuse to accept or to continue to house any Detainee(s) for any reason(s) as determined in the sole 
discretion of the Facility Director or designee. 

 
8. It is also mutually agreed that except for Bernalillo County Detainee(s), the Facility shall not 
give preference to any particular arresting agency or County, subject to a Cost of Care Agreement, in 
booking and housing any Detainee if space at the Facility becomes limited.  All Detainee(s) shall be 
accepted on a first-booked, first-incarcerated basis so long as the needs of Bernalillo County are first 
anticipated and met. 
 
9. In the event that either party is in violation of any term of this Agreement, that party shall be 
served notice and have thirty (30) days in which to cure or remedy the defect.  Failure to cure or 
remedy the defect shall give the non-offending party the right to terminate this Agreement 
immediately on notice.  Notice is hereby deemed to have been given (a) if written notice is hand-
delivered to the other party at their respective office, then termination is effective immediately upon 
receipt at said office; or (b) if the written notice is mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
then termination is effective three (3) working days after the post office mark of mailing. 

 
10. This Agreement may be terminated by either party, with or without cause, by providing written 
notice to the other party at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of termination.  
Termination pursuant to this paragraph by either party shall be considered final with no remedy or 
appeal. 
 
11. Any termination pursuant to paragraphs 9 or 10 shall not affect or abrogate any responsibility 
of either party up to the effective date of termination. 
 
12.      It is agreed that the Bernalillo County shall have complete and total authority over the 
administration, security, health, safety, and well-being of all residents housed at the Facility. 
 
13. The Contractor agrees to instruct its law enforcement officers and Juvenile Probation Officers 
to continue to assist with the booking and lock-up processing of Contractor’s detainees, including but 

not limited to fingerprinting, mug shots, and necessary reports, if requested by the Facility Director or 
his designee. 
 
14. The Facility agrees that the release of Detainee(s) shall be made only pursuant to an order of a 
court of competent jurisdiction, or by appropriate order of an authorized Juvenile Probation Officer. 
 
15. The Contractor and County agree that in the event of any incident at the Facility involving a 
Detainee(s) of Contractor, which incident requires an outside investigation, such incident shall be 
referred to the appropriate Law Enforcement Authority for investigation and a report made to both the 
Contractor and County. 
 



3 
 

16. Each party shall be solely responsible for fiscal or other sanctions occasioned as a result of its 
own violation or alleged violation or requirements applicable to the performance of this Agreement.  
Each party shall be liable for its actions according to this Agreement subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1 et seq., as amended. 
   
17.  This Agreement shall not be altered, changed or amended except by written instrument 
executed and approved by both parties. 
 
18. The Contractor agrees to pay to the County all costs and expenses incurred by the County in 
exercising any of its rights or remedies permitted by law in connection with the enforcement of this 
Agreement. 
 
19. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes any and all other 
agreements or understandings, oral or written, whether previous to the execution hereof or 
contemporaneous herewith. 
 
20. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the Laws 
of the State of New Mexico. 
 
21. This Agreement shall not become effective or binding until executed by both parties. 
 
22.       A signature sent via facsimile/electronic shall have the same legal effect as if the Original has 
been signed in person.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County and the Contractor have executed this Agreement as 
of the last date of execution shown below.  

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:                     COUNTY OF BERNALILLO: 
 
 
___________________________________                     __________________________________ 
Bernalillo County Legal             Date                    By: Cindy Chavez       Date 

       Bernalillo County Manager 
 
 
CONTRACTOR   
 
 
______________________________         
Signature      Date  
 
 



 1 

 
 

SIERRA COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO.  2025-68 
 

DECLARING A PUBLIC SAFETY DISASTER IN SIERRA COUNTY DUE TO THE THREAT OF INJURY 

AND DAMAGE FROM MEXICAN WOLVES 
 
WHEREAS, the Sierra County Commission met upon notice of a duly noticed regular County 
Commission Meeting on August 19, 2025, at 10:00 A.M. in the Sierra County Administration 
Building, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-1 (1884), the powers of a county as a body 
politic and corporate shall be exercised by a board of county commissioners; and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1975) provides that all counties are granted the same 
powers that are granted municipalities, except for those inconsistent with statutory or constitutional 
limitations, including those powers necessary and proper to provide for the safety, preserve the 
health, promote prosperity, and improve the morals, order, comfort and convenience of any county 
or its inhabitants; and, 

WHEREAS, Sierra County is home to a robust and historically significant agricultural and 
ranching community whose livestock, hunting opportunities, and property interests have long been 
impacted by the federal government’s Mexican Wolf Recovery Program; and, 

WHEREAS, recent confirmed depredations within Sierra County include the killing of two adult 
cows and three calves, with an additional probable depredation, and these events are part of a 
pattern of increased wolf activity in the County; and, 

WHEREAS, the Quartz Pack (including wolf F2754 “Asha” and her mate, along with five pups) 
was recently released only four miles from the Daugherty Ranch, in close proximity to ranching 
operations and private property; and, 

WHEREAS, an estimated 20 uncollared wolves roam Sierra County without tracking collars, 
making management and deterrence difficult, and large ranches and rugged terrain limit visibility 
and early detection; and, 

WHEREAS, wolf predation and presence have significantly reduced deer fawn and elk calf 
survival, diminishing hunting success and adversely affecting the County’s hunting economy; and, 



 2 

WHEREAS, the release and movement of wolves into populated and ranching areas present an 
immediate and continuing danger to the safety, health, welfare, and livelihoods of Sierra County 
residents, their pets, and their livestock; and, 

WHEREAS, all locally available public and private resources to mitigate these threats are 
inadequate to address the scope and urgency of the situation, and additional resources, authority, 
and coordinated action are required to protect citizens and property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, pursuant to the authority granted by the All 
Hazard Emergency Management Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 12-10-1 et seq., and particularly 
NMSA 1978, Section 12-10-5 (2007), the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County 
authorizes the use of all available County resources to respond to and mitigate the danger posed 
by Mexican wolves within Sierra County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, by virtue of the County’s general 
powers and the authority provided by the New Mexico Civil Emergency Preparedness Act (NMSA 
1978, §§ 12-10-01 to 12-10-11), the Board of County Commissioners hereby declares the threat 
from Mexican wolves to be a public welfare emergency/disaster for the purposes of exercising 
necessary emergency powers, expending available resources, and requesting aid, assistance, and 
relief programs and funds from the State of New Mexico and the Government of the United States. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this emergency/disaster declaration 
shall remain in effect until the Board determines that the threat to public safety, property, and 
economic stability has been adequately addressed. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board requests the Governor to: 

1. Direct the Department of Finance and Administration to make available emergency 
financial resources to the Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Sections 12-11-23 to -26, and 12-10-14 to -15, to be 
expended for resources and services necessary to remove or mitigate the threat and 
economic harm resulting from Mexican wolves in Sierra County; and, 

2. Direct the Adjutant General to order into service such elements of the New Mexico 
National Guard or State Defense Force as may be necessary to support civil authorities in 
eliminating the emergency threat and damages from Mexican wolves pursuant to NMSA 
1978, Chapters 20-1 through 20-5. 

 

 

 

 

 



 3 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 19th day of August, 2025. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 Travis Day, Chair 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Amy Whitehead 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  2025-69 

 
FY26 - BUDGET AND TRANSFER AMENDMENT RESOLUTION TO ADJUST VARIOUS FUNDS 

 
Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in a regular public session on 
August 19, 2025, deems it necessary to amend the said line items in the FY 2025-2026 
budget; 
 
Whereas, revenue, expenditures, and transfer must be amended in various accounts for 
carryovers, new grants, state allotments, and legislative appropriations;   
 
Therefore, Be lt Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby move to 
implement the budget amendment and transfer in the FY 2025-2026 Budget as described 
below: 
 
Revenue: 

ACCOUNT 
LINE: DESCRIPTION CURRENT 

BALANCE ADJUSTMENT NEW 
BALANCE 

 ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION  

502-0 -1621 
LEGISLATIVE 
APPROPRIATION (1,270,000.00) (1,659,357.83) (2,929,357.83) 

Inc. by reimbursements 
received in July 2026 
($891,107.83), new 
appropriations; Hillsboro 
Comm. Center ($173,250), 
Fairgrounds ($100,000), EOC 
($495,000)  

500-0 -1425 IDP/RISE GRANT (175,000.00) 6,655.34  (168,344.66) 
Carryover ($40,844.66) + 
New ($127,500)  

500-0 -1428 BHIZ GRANT (500,000.00) (127,688.55) (627,688.55) 
Carryover ($127,688.55) + 
New ($500,000)  

500-0 -1433 RESET RENTAL ASST 0.00  (7,192.72) (7,192.72) Carryover  

407-0 -1560 STATE FIRE-HILLSBORO 0.00  (173,178.00) (173,178.00) 

 
FY26 allotment - Hillsboro 
Fire  

409-0 -1560 
STATE FIRE -ARREY 
DERRY 0.00  (173,178.00) (173,178.00) 

FY26 allotment - Arrey Derry 
Fire  

410-0 -1560 STATE FIRE -WINSTON 0.00  (164,189.00) (164,189.00) FY26 allotment - Winston Fire  

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



411-0 -1560 
STATE FIRE-
MONTICELLO 0.00  (170,940.00) (170,940.00) 

FY26 allotment - Monticello 
Fire  

413-0 -1560 STATE FIRE-CABALLO   (141,694.00) (141,694.00) FY26 allotment - Caballo Fire  

414-0 -1560 
STATE FIRE-LAS 
PALOMAS 0.00  (134,945.00) (134,945.00) 

FY26 allotment - Las 
Palomas Fire  

425-0 -1560 
STATE FIRE-POVERTY 
CREEK 0.00  (134,945.00) (134,945.00) 

FY26 allotment - Poverty 
Creek Fire  

426-0 -1560 STATE FIRE-FIRE ADMIN 0.00  (128,198.00) (128,198.00) 
FY26 allotment - Fire 
Administrator  

603-0 -1561 
STATE EMS-SVH 
AMBULANCE 0.00  (76,000.00) (76,000.00) 

FY26 allotment - Sierra Vista 
Hospital Ambulance  

611-0 -1561 STATE EMS-HILLSBORO 0.00  (24,500.00) (24,500.00) 
FY26 allotment - Hillsboro 
EMS  

633-0 -1561 
STATE EMS-LAS 
PALOMAS 0.00  (53,800.00) (53,800.00) 

FY26 allotment - Las 
Palomas EMS  

416-0 -1451 STATE - SP (COOP) (67,500.00) (69,658.00) (137,158.00) LGRF - NMDOT FY26 SP  

417-0 -1457 STATE - CAP (COOP) (32,500.00) (107,254.00) (139,754.00) LGRF - NMDOT FY26 CAP  

418-0 -1455 STATE - SB (COOP) (49,000.00) (123,642.00) (172,642.00) LGRF - NMDOT FY26 SB  

 
Expense: 

ACCOUNT 
LINE: DESCRIPTION CURRENT 

BALANCE ADJUSTMENT NEW 
BALANCE 

 ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION  

416-51-2182 NMDOT FY25 - SP 67,500.00  81,325.98  148,825.98  
LGRF - NMDOT FY25 SP 
amended to actuals  

417-52-2182 NMDOT FY25 - CAP 32,500.00  55,066.33  87,566.33  
LGRF - NMDOT FY25 CAP 
amended to actuals  

418-53-2182 NMDOT FY25 - SB 49,000.00  (2,746.14) 46,253.86  
LGRF - NMDOT FY25 SB 
amended to actuals  

416-51-3014 NMDOT FY26 PROJ (SP) 0.00  137,158.00  137,158.00  
LGRF - NMDOT FY26 SP  

417-52-3014 NMDOT FY26 PROJ(CAP) 0.00  139,754.00  139,754.00  LGRF - NMDOT FY26 CAP  

418-53-3014 NMDOT FY26 PROJ (SB) 0.00  172,642.00  172,642.00  LGRF - NMDOT FY26 SB  

500-45-2447 STIPENDS 25,000.00  (8,000.00) 17,000.00  
Volunteer firefighter stipends - 
amended to actuals  

500-46-2106 CONTRACT SERVICES 477,925.29  129,263.26  607,188.55  
FY26 RISE grant amended to 
actuals and carryover  

500-48-2002 FULL-TIME SALARIES 39,000.00  (25,651.94) 13,348.06  
FY26 BHIZ grant amended to 
actuals and carryover  

500-48-2225 SUPPLIES 5,000.00  (3,500.00) 1,500.00  
FY26 BHIZ grant amended to 
actuals and carryover  

500-48-2221 TELEPHONE / MAINT 2,000.00  (1,307.28) 692.72  
FY26 BHIZ grant amended to 
actuals and carryover  

502-08-2972 
LEG APPROP S.O. 
VEHICLES 0.00  26,628.54  26,628.54  Carryover  

502-56-2099 FAIRGROUNDS 150,000.00  100,000.00  250,000.00  Carryover  

502-56-2959 
L.A.23-H3212 HILLSBORO 
HVAC 250,000.00  (38,140.63) 211,859.37  Amend to actuals  

502-56-2988 
LEGIS APPR 
FAIRGROUNDS 850,000.00  (142,616.46) 707,383.54  Amend to actuals  

502-03-2106 CONTRACT SERVICES 0.00  79,714.76  79,714.76  Hazard Mitigation Plan - Grant  

502-03-2097 
EMERGENCY 
OPERATIONS CENTER 0.00  495,000.00  495,000.00  

New appropriation. Contract 
25-J3162  

502-56-3012 LA 25-J3165 HILLSBORO 0.00  173,250.00  173,250.00  
New appropriation. Contract 
25-J3165  



502-56-3013 
LA 25-J3163 
FAIRGROUNDS 0.00  100,000.00  100,000.00  

New appropriation. Contract 
25-J3163  

512-00-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  72,141.31  72,141.31  
Carryover for SO, Van Patten 
Remodel   

512-01-2106 CONTRACT SERVICES 45,209.25  41,233.83  86,443.08  
Carryover, Catalis, Triadic, 
ADP report  

512-01-2185 
HILLSBORO DRAINAGE 
PLAN 0.00  12,703.30  12,703.30  

Carryover  

512-01-2333 COMP. DATA / INTERNET 0.00  316,993.05  316,993.05  Systems MD upgrades  

512-03-2097 
EMERGENCY 
OPERATIONS CENTER 0.00  89,237.01  89,237.01  Carryover - EOC match  

512-08-2333 COMP. DATA / INTERNET 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  Carryover - Urban SDK  

512-02-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  32,000.00  32,000.00  Mower & trailer for Facilities  

629-03-2101 COUNTY MATCH 0.00  8,434.00  8,434.00  
Hazard Mitigation Plan - 
Match  

603-81-2120 EMS TRAINING 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
FY26 allotment - Sierra Vista 
Hospital Ambulance + 
carryover ($9221.23) 

603-81-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  

603-81-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 0.00  70,221.23  70,221.23  
611-89-2120 EMS TRAINING 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  

FY26 allotment - Hillsboro 
EMS 

611-89-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
611-89-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  13,500.00  13,500.00  
611-89-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 0.00  7,000.00  7,000.00  
633-44-2109 TRAVEL/MILEAGE 0.00  200.00  200.00  

FY26 allotment - Las Palomas 
EMS  

633-44-2115 REGISTRATION FEES 0.00  200.00  200.00  
633-44-2120 EMS TRAINING 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
633-44-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  
633-44-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
633-44-2441 FUEL 0.00  3,400.00  3,400.00  
633-44-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 0.00  36,000.00  36,000.00  
414-83-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  

FY26 allotment - Las Palomas 
Fire 

414-83-2220 POSTAGE 0.00  100.00  100.00  
414-83-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  4,000.00  4,000.00  
414-83-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
414-83-2301 COMM. EQUIP. MAINT. 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
414-83-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  
414-83-2441 FUEL 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
414-83-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  4,000.00  4,000.00  
414-83-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  
414-83-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  

414-83-2805 
NMFA INTERCEPT 
AGREEMENT 0.00  16,075.00  16,075.00  

414-83-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 34,000.00  21,612.50  55,612.50  
414-83-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 46,000.00  54,433.00  100,433.00  
413-80-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  FY26 allotment - Caballo Fire  
413-80-2114 CONVENTION / SCH 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  



413-80-2220 POSTAGE 0.00  100.00  100.00  
413-80-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  4,000.00  4,000.00  
413-80-2222 PRINTING & PUBLISHING 0.00  150.00  150.00  
413-80-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  
413-80-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
413-80-2301 COMM. EQUIP. MAINT. 0.00  4,000.00  4,000.00  
413-80-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  11,261.00  11,261.00  
413-80-2441 FUEL 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
413-80-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
413-80-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  
413-80-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  
413-80-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  27,629.53  27,629.53  
413-80-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 5,000.00  55,000.00  60,000.00  
411-78-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  

FY26 allotment - Monticello 
Fire 

411-78-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  4,500.00  4,500.00  
411-78-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
411-78-2301 COMM. EQUIP. MAINT. 0.00  1,500.00  1,500.00  
411-78-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  24,000.00  24,000.00  
411-78-2441 FUEL 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
411-78-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  
411-78-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  5,500.00  5,500.00  
411-78-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  

411-78-2805 
NMFA INTERCEPT 
AGREEMENT 0.00  29,896.00  29,896.00  

411-78-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  49,577.31  49,577.31  
411-78-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 100,000.00  56,150.92  156,150.92  
409-77-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  

FY26 allotment - Arrey Derry 
Fire  
  

409-77-2114 CONVENTION / SCH 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
409-77-2220 POSTAGE 0.00  100.00  100.00  
409-77-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  2,500.00  2,500.00  
409-77-2222 PRINTING & PUBLISHING 0.00  100.00  100.00  
409-77-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
409-77-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
409-77-2301 COMM. EQUIP. MAINT. 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
409-77-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  
409-77-2441 FUEL 0.00  8,000.00  8,000.00  
409-77-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  6,500.00  6,500.00  
409-77-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  6,000.00  6,000.00  
409-77-2805 NMFA INTER AGRMNT 0.00  24,855.00  24,855.00  
409-77-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  61,159.53  61,159.53  
409-77-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 85,000.00  64,000.00  149,000.00  
407-75-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  FY26 allotment - Hillsboro 

Fire  407-75-2114 CONVENTION / SCH 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  



407-75-2200 DONATIONS 0.00  300.00  300.00    

407-75-2220 POSTAGE 0.00  100.00  100.00  
407-75-2221 TELEPHONE/MAINTENA 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
407-75-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
407-75-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
407-75-2301 COMM. EQUIP. MAINT. 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
407-75-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  
407-75-2441 FUEL 0.00  7,000.00  7,000.00  
407-75-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  
407-75-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  
407-75-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  
407-75-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,888.00  53,112.00  60,000.00  
407-75-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 73,112.00  54,838.24  127,950.24  
410-74-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  

FY26 allotment - Winston Fire  
  

410-74-2109 TRAVEL/MILEAGE 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
410-74-2110 PER DIEM 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
410-74-2114 CONVENTION / SCH 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
410-74-2220 POSTAGE 0.00  100.00  100.00  
410-74-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  
410-74-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
410-74-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
410-74-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  
410-74-2441 FUEL 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
410-74-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  12,000.00  12,000.00  
410-74-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  7,000.00  7,000.00  
410-74-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  
410-74-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  70,000.00  70,000.00  
410-74-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 90,000.00  41,664.46  131,664.46  
425-59-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00  

FY26 allotment - Poverty  
Creek Fire  
  

425-59-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
425-59-2225 SUPPLIES 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
425-59-2300 COMM. EQUIPMENT 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
425-59-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  
425-59-2441 FUEL 0.00  3,000.00  3,000.00  
425-59-2550 BLDNG REP. / MAINT. 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
425-59-2552 UTILITIES 0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  
425-59-2795 FIRE INSURANCE 0.00  4,304.00  4,304.00  

425-59-2805 
NMFA INTERCEPT 
AGREEMENT 0.00  26,905.00  26,905.00  

425-59-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 44,000.00  (7,023.75) 36,976.25  
425-59-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 76,000.00  11,486.00  87,486.00  
426-45-2012 ADMINISTRATIVE FEES 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  FY26 allotment - Fire 

Administrator  426-45-2024 CODE RED 0.00  7,000.00  7,000.00  



426-45-2085 DISPATCHING FEES 0.00  1,250.00  1,250.00    

426-45-2108 LODGING 0.00  6,500.00  6,500.00  
426-45-2110 PER DIEM 0.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  
426-45-2112 MEMBERSHIP FEES 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
426-45-2115 REGISTRATION FEES 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
426-45-2221 TELEPH. / MAINT. 0.00  1,500.00 1,500.00  
426-45-2302 MEDICAL DIRECTOR 0.00  12,000.00  12,000.00  
426-45-2330 EQUIP/VEHICLE MAINT 0.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
426-45-2333 COMP. DATA / INTERNET 0.00  600.00  600.00  
426-45-2441 FUEL 0.00  10,000.00  10,000.00  
426-45-2900 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00  27,000.00  27,000.00  
426-45-2999 CAPITAL UNDER $5 000 80,000.00  60,168.01  140,168.01  

 
Transfer: 

ACCOUNT 
LINE: DESCRIPTION CURRENT 

BALANCE ADJUSTMENT NEW 
BALANCE 

 ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION  

401-0 -1971 TO OTHER FUNDS (2,355,051.00) (8,434.00) (2,363,485.00) To Fund 629 / Hazard 
Mitigation Plan match  

629-0 -1970 TRANSFER (190,051.00) (8,434.00) (198,485.00) From Fund 401 / Hazard 
Mitigation Plan match  

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 19th DAY OF AUGUST 2025. 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 
    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  2025-70 

 
FY26 - BUDGET/LINE-ITEM AMENDMENT RESOLUTION TO ALLOCATE FUNDING FOR THE SIERRA 

COUNTY ARROYO FLOOD DISTRICT  
 
Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in special public session on 
August 19th, 2025, deem it necessary to amend the said line items in the FY 2025-2026 
budget; 
 
Whereas, expenditures must be adjusted to support the Sierra County Arroyo Flood District;  
 
Therefore, Be lt Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby move to 
implement the Line-item adjustments and transfers in the FY 2025-2026 Budget as 
described below: 
 
Expense: 

ACCOUNT 
LINE: DESCRIPTION 

CURRENT 
BALANCE ADJUSTMENT 

NEW 
BALANCE  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

512-00-2790 Special Projects 0 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 
Sierra County Arroyo Flood 
District  

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 19th DAY OF AUGUST 2025. 
 
 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
    ____________________________ 
ATTEST:    TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
    ____________________________ 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Amy Whitehead 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



    HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________ 
AMY WHITEHEAD, COUNTY CLERK  JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	AGENDA
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Regular Meeting-July 15th, 2025
	B. Special Meeting-July 31st, 2025
	C. Special Meeting-August 13th, 2025

	CONSENT AGENDA
	A. Resolution No. 2025-66 AP
	B. Resolution No. 2025-67 Indigent Claims
	C. Indigent Burial B2025-016

	BOARD OF FINANCE
	A. July Reconciliation 

	NEW BUSINESS
	A. Approval of Donation of Wood chipper 

	CONTRACTS-AGREEMENTS-PROCUREMENTS
	A. Approval of Unauthorized Purchase: Flood Commissioner 
	B. Preservation Agreement 
	C. Hillsboro JPA 
	D. MOU Between S.C. and T or C Schools 
	E. MOU Between S.C. and Arroyo Flood District 
	F. RISE Grant 
	G. BHIZ Grant 
	H. Grant 25-J3162
	I. Grant 25-J3163
	J. Grant 25-J3165
	K. COC Agreement Between S.C. and Bernalillo 

	RESOLUTIONS-ORDINANCES-PROCLAMATIONS
	A. Resolution No. 2025-68
	B. Resolution No. 2025-69
	C. Resolution No. 2025-70


